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This Annual Report provides a 12-month 

overview of the performance of WDEA 

Works from 1 July 2020 to 30 June 2021.

ABOUT THIS REPORT

WDEA Works acknowledges the Traditional Owners  
of the lands on which we provide our services.  
We pay our respects to their Elders past, present and emerging.

WDEA Works welcomes people of any age, culture, religion,  
sex, gender, sexuality and ability.

Cover: The cover artwork is a small 

representation of our organisation; the 

values we uphold and the various services, 

businesses, staff and clients who make up 

the fabric of WDEA Works. 
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Integrity

Our clients trust us. We owe them 

honesty and transparency. Every 

person who comes to WDEA Works 

deserves to be treated in a fair and 

objective way. We’re accountable for 

our actions and we follow through.

Respect

Each person we work with  

is worthy and should be seen 

in a unique context. Diversity 

shows us new ways to build 

on a person’s strength.

Empathy

Everyone experiences life 

differently. Relating to each other 

helps us understand someone 

else’s perspective so we can 

create solutions for individuals.

Innovation

How can we make someone’s life 

better? Using new ideas can solve 

challenges of all sizes and levels.  

A little innovation might have  

a big impact for a client. 

OUR VALUES

WDEA Works is a values 
based organisation. Our 
values guide us every 
day in our interactions 
and decisions."
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Inclusive, thriving communities.

For over thirty years, WDEA Works has been 

positively impacting its communities. Inclusion 

and diversity will continue to frame our vision, 

with expanded community involvement. We 

continue to grow and change with the people 

we serve, rising to meet the growing needs 

of vulnerable people to help them thrive.  

OUR VISION

Creating opportunities for  

inclusiveness in communities.

Building relationships in our communities starts 

with developing strong connections and listening 

to our communities to build trust. We use our 

resources to support people by meeting the 

needs of our communities to drive positive change.

OUR PURPOSE

Photo: WDEA Works Portland 

staff donated a Christmas 

hamper to the Portland 

Salvation Army. (L-R) Peter 

Stamp and Kathryn Parsons.
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SHEPPARTON

OUR LOCATIONS 
With a presence in more than 17 regional locations, WDEA Works  

is proud to be a part of the communities in which we operate.

We pride 
ourselves on  

being a part of  
our communities 

and we will  
work to be part  

of the solution ."
Tom Scarborough, WDEA Works CEO
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CHAIR AND  
CEO MESSAGE
Welcome to the 2020/2021 edition of WDEA Works Annual Report. As Chair and CEO, 

we both feel privileged to have stewardship of an organisation that has such a long history 

of supporting our communities. 

The 2020/2021 financial year was another busy one 

for WDEA Works given an increased need for our 

services. It was also a challenging year with ongoing 

COVID-19 restrictions impacting every part of our 

communities. WDEA Works has adapted well to the 

intermittent lockdowns and restrictions. We are 

grateful for the government support through Job 

Keeper which enabled us to continue our normal 

levels of purchasing locally and recruiting staff to 

meet the increased need for our services. As a result 

we have managed to ‘stay the course’ this year 

without any staff being stood down. 

A large piece of work undertaken was the 

conclusion of the 2019-2021 Strategic Plan and the 

development our new five-year Strategic Plan. Our 

strategic planning was facilitated by Social Ventures 

Australia using a collaborative process which 

involved our Committee of Management, Executive 

and Senior Managers. 

As part of the strategic planning exercise, we had 

in-depth discussions around our vision and purpose. 

These discussions highlighted the common theme of 

WDEA Works’ commitment to our communities and 

inclusion. We believe the services we provide now, 

and our direction into the future will contribute to 

‘inclusive and thriving communities’. 

We would both like to thank and acknowledge our 

staff in the following programs and services for 

their contribution during these challenging times. 

Without their passion and dedication WDEA Works’ 

success would not be possible. 

jobactive and Disability Employment Services 

assisted 4600 people into employment, whilst our 

professional services supported job seekers with 

788 counselling sessions. 

School Leavers Employment Supports (SLES), has 

grown by over 300%. Our SLES service continues 

to provide a pathway for young people with a 

disability to achieve their goals and find employment 

with support that is unique to them, their interest, 

ambitions, and abilities.  

WDEA Works Training delivered Early Childhood 

Education & Care qualifications to 112 students 

and provided 45,205 student contact hours. 1031 

people became ‘Provide First Aid’ qualified; a skill 

which may literally save a life.  

The Career Transition Assistance program 

helped 77 people gain the confidence and skills 

they needed to find employment and re-join the 

workforce. WDEA Works Training also gained 

approval to deliver Learn Local courses within the 

Warrnambool district. 
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We would both like to thank  
and acknowledge our staff, 

Without their passion and 
dedication WDEA Works' 

success would not  
be possible."

Photos (L-R): WDEA Works Chair 

Dennis Barnett; WDEA Works  

CEO Tom Scarborough.
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We both believe the social 
outcomes WDEA Works achieved 
has been an amazing effort  
and source of inspiration  
to us all."

WDEA Works Social Enterprises had 123 

employees in supported employment through our 

six social enterprise businesses with 134 people 

participating in NDIS activities. Plan Management 

continued to grow, providing service to 1021 NDIS 

participants. 

WDEA Works Foundation continued to give 

back to the communities in which we operate. 

The foundation funded 17 grants to the value of 

$72,000. We also supported over 45 various not-

for-profits, sporting clubs, events, and community 

groups via sponsorships and donations. 

Internally, WDEA Works invested time into the 

development of a Reflect Reconciliation Action 

Plan (RAP) which was spearheaded by the RAP 

Working Group. This group is made up of staff 

across all departments, sites, and roles with a 

common passion for supporting reconciliation. 

Our People & Culture department have also been 

working hard to make sure all members of our 

community feel comfortable and supported utilising 

our services and have registered a membership with 

‘Diversity Council Australia’ and ‘Welcome Here’. 

Behind the scenes, our IT and Quality teams, 

combined with many other staff, completed the 

mammoth task of achieving ISO 27001 certification 

or Right Fit for Risk. This certification enables 

WDEA Works to tender for employment services 

next year.

Individually, we’d also like to reflect on the past year. 

As Chair of the WDEA Works Committee of 
Management (COM) I was elected in October 2020 
and with this, would like to recognise the work of our 
preceding Chair Mary Graham. After stepping down 
from the role of Chair, Mary has continued to serve on 
the Committee of Management, providing invaluable 
support to the Committee and myself as well as ongoing 
guidance over the past 12 months. 

I would like to acknowledge the work of COM member 
Kellie King, who retired from the Committee in 2020. 
Kellie provided incredible guidance in developing the 
governance processes of the WDEA Works Committee.

The resignation of Kellie and previous members in 
2019/2020, also presented an opportunity to welcome 
new members. In that, I would like to welcome Annabel 
Cussen and Dr Ian Burke, who commenced in 2020. 

Annabel has broad professional experience working 
in both government and not for profit sectors with 
a foundational background in grants, funding and 
philanthropy, and experience in economic development, 
community engagement and education. 

 Ian was a part of the National Leadership Team for 
Red Cross and fulfilled the roles of Executive Director 
Tasmania and Director Commercial Operations. Ian has 
a strong background in training and education as well 
as strategic policy and implementation. Both have been 
incredibly valuable additions to the Committee, helping 
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guide WDEA Works through the uncertainty that 
COVID-19 continues to create. 

Finally, I would like to thank our CEO, Tom, and the 
entire WDEA Works team. COVID-19 impacted our 
businesses, our community, our people, and ourselves 
like never before. We all will know of someone, if not 
ourselves, who has been impacted by the pandemic. 

It has been incredibly pleasing to see that the entire 
WDEA Works team’s commitment to supporting our 
clients and our communities has not wavered.  

Whilst the location of the day-to-day workplace may 
have changed, the continued desire to find employment 
and training outcomes remains the same. It would 
have been easy for our staff to have shifted the focus 
to ourselves, however we have stayed dedicated to 
supporting those who need us, which is testament to the 
incredible people that make up WDEA Works. 

As CEO, I would also like to thank on behalf  
of WDEA Works:  

 + Our Chair, Dennis Barnett, and all members of 
our Committee of Management for overseeing all 
matters of governance, quality, risk, and strategy.

 + The Executive Team and the broader Senior 
Management Team for their dedication to WDEA 
Works and our communities.

 + Our Company Secretary, Alison Toohey

 + My Executive Assistant, Ashlea Hazeldine. 

All our achievements throughout the year would not be 
possible without the support and expertise we have in 
our Corporate Services. I would like to acknowledge the 
expertise, professionalism, and valuable contributions 
of our people in HR, Finance, OHS, Risk, Quality, IT, 
Marketing/Communications, Fleet and Facilities, and 
Corporate Services. 

We both believe the social outcomes WDEA Works 

achieved has been an amazing effort and source of 

inspiration to us all. 

We would like to thank all the people in our 

communities and businesses for supporting 

WDEA Works. 

Our wish is for you and your families to be safe 

and healthy. 

Kind regards,

Tom Scarborough  

WDEA Works CEO

Dennis Barnett 

Committee of 
Management Chair
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17
organisations supported 

through the WDEA Works 

Foundation  

$17 million 
in Plan Management claims 

to enable participants to 

receive supports

25 $72,000

225,000 

SLES participants gained 

work experience or 

meaningful employment 
worth of funding given through  

the WDEA Works Foundation 

kilograms of electrical products 

processed by e-waste

Over

Over

24It feels really 
good having  
a purpose. 

It has been 
incredible to 
see Zoee grow. Automated External  

Defibrillator’s purchased
WDEA Works SLES participant WDEA Works Employment Preparation 

and Engagement Consultant

Employed job seeker

employment... keeps 
me occupied and 
not by myself and 
in my own head  
all the time .

First-aid Training student

Hands on CPR 
practice and a very 
knowledgeable 
trainer.

Zoe, Red Door Productions, Colac

We are extremely 
proud of the 
partnership we have 
built with WDEA 
over the years.

A YEAR  
IN REVIEW

1314



1314
new enrolments for First Aid,  

Career Transition Assistance  

& Early Childhood combined

I'm thankful 
for my trainer's 
endless 
knowledge. 
WDEA Works Training participant

4600

500,000

job seeker’s have been helped 

 to find job placements

Team’s video calls made 

3500
businesses have been successfully  

helped to find staff

300%4432
increase in SLES participants

40
community partnerships

Over

ELMO learning courses completed  

Bronwyn Lawson,  
Bluebird Foundation Program Manager

The equipment that 
the funding from 
WDEA will purchase 
will open up so 
many possibilities.

Employer

we love the 
support and the 
constant keeping 
in contact to make 
sure we're okay.

SLES participant

SLES is one of 
the greatest 
things I've got 
to experience 
so far.

Big R’s Shed customer

Your team have 
always shown 
respect and are 
extremely helpful. 
Thank you!

Early Childhood Education 
& Care student 

Contributing  
to children's 
learning makes  
me happy.

Director of People & Culture

Proudly in 2020 
WDEA Works became 
a member of 
Diversity Council 
Australia (DCA).

WDEA Works job seeker 

I am very happy with 
the service I receive 
from WDEA. I am 
treated as a person 
and with respect.

Over



WDEA Works 
feels privileged 

to have been able  
to support so 

many organisations 
during this period  

of uncertainty."

Photo: The Warrnambool Tri Club 

were successful grant recipients in 

2020 and were able to host their 

all-abilities tri in Jan 2021. (L-R) 

Michael Smith, Ashlee Bradford 

and Rebecca Bradford.
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FOUNDATION
WDEA Works continued to give back to the communities in which we operate with  

the WDEA Works Foundation; this year 17 grants and over $72,000 was distributed. 

One of the successful applicants was The Bluebird 

Foundation. When learning of their successful grant 

application Program Manager Bronwyn Lawson said 

“The instruments and recording equipment that the 

funding from WDEA will purchase will open up so many 

possibilities for the musicians at MusicSpace. Their 

creative dreams will really be able to take flight now.” 

WDEA Works feels privileged to have been able  

to support so many organisations during this  

period of uncertainty and when fundraising 

has proved challenging. 

“Now more than ever we need to make sure that 

activities, programs, services and projects which 

support people with a disability continue to have  

the funding and support they need to run and exist  

in an inclusive space” said WDEA Works Director  

of Communication and Engagement Andrea Hogan. 

Organisation  Area Amount  

AAA Sports   Ballarat   $1585  

Ballarat City FC   Ballarat   $5000  

Ballarat Woodworkers Guild   Ballarat   $2392  

Echuca Twin Rivers School   Echuca   $4403  

The Bluebird Foundation   Geelong   $4994  

The Type 1 Foundation   Geelong   $4600  

Grinter Garden    Geelong   $3750  

The Dress Up Place   Geelong   $5000  

Autism Camps Australia   Geelong   $5000  

Glenelg & Southern Grampians LLEN   Hamilton   $5000  

Wimmera Regional Sports Assembly   Horsham    $5000  

Rainbow Innovation Centre   Rainbow   $5000  

Concongella Primary School   Stawell   $5000  

Find Your Voice Collective   Warrnambool   $4920  

Warrnambool Kiwanis Club   Warrnambool   $2000  

Warrnambool Breastfeeding Centre   Warrnambool   $5000  

Port Fairy Winter Weekend   Warrnambool   $3860  

Total $72,504 



EMPLOYMENT 
SERVICES 
Well, what an interesting year it has been for Employment Services and indeed for 

everyone in the WDEA Works family and the communities in which we operate.   

Providing employment programs in any environment 

comes with great challenges, however, during a 

pandemic with lockdowns and business closure we 

have had to dig in and find the courage and resilience 

to support our clients, staff, and communities as 

never before.   

I am very proud of the work that we have done, 

the people we have supported and the great 

compassion that we have shown to our clients and 

the business community during uncertain times. 

We have engaged, prepared, provided opportunities, 

placed and supported over 10,500 clients across 

the jobactive and Disability Employment Service 

(DES) employment programs. We have achieved 

4600 job placements and serviced over 3500 

employers in our quest to maintain quality outcomes 

for all of our stakeholders, regardless of external 

environmental forces.   

Our jobactive program saw unprecedented client 

flow during the past twelve months as employment 

and business were greatly affected by the pandemic.  

During the height of business shutdown our 

numbers effectively doubled, putting enormous 

pressure on the programs, staff, and management.  

As always, we rose to the challenge, making 

engagement and possibility the focus of our practice 

to find as many jobs and support as many employers 

in our communities as possible.   

We were very mindful that service to DES 

participants was more important than ever to 

help prepare and support our clients to capture 

any opportunities that presented. Our clients are 

already greatly affected by social isolation and our 

goal was to engage in any way we could with people 

who were already very vulnerable.  Our commitment 

to ramping up the capability of our staff to engage 

with clients, to encourage and provide good 

communication has allowed us to maintain a good 

level of progression toward employment goals and 

community connectedness.   

School Leavers Employment Supports (SLES) 

continues to help more participants prepare for 

and find work than ever before. There has been 

an increase in participants by over 300% during 

the 2020/2021 financial year. This has resulted in 

over 25 participants (and counting!) gaining work 

experience or meaningful employment. 

WDEA Works’ focus remains on having skilled staff 

provide intensive, caring support, tailored to the 

best interests of each individual.  It is this approach 

that allows all SLES participants to gain valuable 

employment-related skills and advice which will help 

them on their journey to employment. 

WDEA Works’ SLES service now employs over 

25 staff from local communities that are directly 

connected to helping young people with disabilities 

achieve their employment goals. 

SLES continues to connect with more local people, 

local services, and local businesses in order to 

strengthen communities by providing the best 

service to the people in those communities. 
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The coming year will provide further challenges as 

we commence tendering for the New Employment 

Services program that will begin in 2022, closely 

followed by DES in 2023.   

We will look for new and innovative ways to improve 

our reach and our service offering as we strive to 

positively impact more people in more communities 

and bring meaningful opportunities for employment 

and engagement into their lives.    

As always, none of this would be possible without 

our dedicated, caring and committed staff who have 

shown great compassion to our clients and great 

resilience to not only persevere in a difficult time  

but to prevail.  I sincerely thank you all and  

commend the way in which you go about  

your jobs everyday with passion and  

purpose providing hope and benefit to  

so many members of our communities. 

Brett Orr 

Director of Employment  

& Sustainability

We have achieved 4600 job 
placements and serviced over 

3500 employers in our quest to 
maintain quality outcomes for 

all of our stakeholders."

Photo: WDEA Work SLES 

participant Zoee has found 

enjoyable employment with KJ 

Hair Design. (L-R) Elisha Keep, 

Zoee Howe and Kara O’Brien.
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We continually 
strive to 
offer our team 
quality work 
experiences and 
support them in 
their journey."

Photo: WDEA Works Social 

Enterprises Steam &  

Clean’s Carlinne Bourke 

 and Tori McCann.
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SOCIAL ENTERPRISES 
AND NDIS SERVICES  
The financial year 2020/2021 has been both challenging and rewarding for the Social 

Enterprise team. As we faced the COVID-19 challenges head on, our number one 

priority was supporting our unique team through this testing period.       

We were able to respond quickly to the changing 

trading restrictions that our businesses were 

operating under whilst never losing focus of the 

wellbeing of the 125 individuals that rely on our 

support. We continually strive to offer our team 

quality work experiences and support them through 

their journey of personal development in a safe, 

caring, and inclusive environment.   

Our businesses have returned strong financial 

results whist continuing our vision of developing 

community relationships and being an integral 

member of the communities we operate in. 

Our business operations include furniture 

manufacturing, clothes recycling, E-Waste 

dismantling, retail operations, lawn and garden 

maintenance, car detailing and a sorting/packaging/

collating business. We continue to look for 

opportunities to expand our operations and any 

potential business to support the transition of our 

employees to open employment. 

Nigretta of Hamilton 

Nigretta has continued its transformation from 

a woodwork and furniture making operation 

to a unique community hub; offering a range of 

employment and development experiences for our 

team. Woodworking remains a key component at 

the Nigretta site and our team can also develop their 

skills participating in E-Waste dismantling, clothes 

recycling, car detailing and collating. This year we 

have added a range of activities like art, cooking, 

gardening and wellbeing to the suit of options 

available for the community. 

The transition at Nigretta has seen our financial 

position strengthen as we diversify our income 

streams and improve our efficiencies. 

 The Big Green Shed 

The Big Green Shed is a Hamilton based reuse 

and recycle business that diverts quality items 

from landfill. The team sell items such as furniture, 

doors, sporting equipment and homewares. In the 

last twelve months we have transitioned from a 

volunteer-based business to employing people from 

the local community. We are excited to announce 

we have secured a Recycling Victoria Communities 

Fund grant from the Victorian Government through 

Sustainability Victoria that will allow us to upgrade 

the facility and improve our operation in regard to 

additional safety, functionality and sustainability. 

 The Big Rs Shed 

The Big R’s Shed is a reuse, recycle, repurpose and 

restore business based in Warrnambool. We offer 

our team of supported employees a quality retail 

work experience that drives community interaction. 

The introduction of The Big R’s Coffee Shop in the 

last twelve months has allowed our team to learn a 

new skill that is transferable to open employment. 

The Big Rs Shed is a great catalyst to attract the 

community to our Albert Street site and raises our 

profile  the district.    
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E-Waste 

Based primarily at our Albert Street site in 

Warrnambool, E-Waste dismantles televisions, 

computers and a huge variety of electrical items 

into recyclable components, with the objective on 

supporting a more sustainable environment. We 

also operate a satellite site located at Nigretta of 

Hamilton. Our team process over 225,000 kilograms 

of electrical products a year, diverting these items 

from landfill, while working in a safe and supported 

environment. We have long held partnerships 

with many local councils including Glenelg Shire, 

Southern Grampians Shire, Moyne Shire, and 

Corangamite Shire. 

Create and Collate 

Create and Collate is one of the businesses that 

operates out of our Albert Street site in Warrnambool. 

The team of about 20 people do a wide range of 

work for businesses locally and in Melbourne. The 

type of work undertaken includes sorting, collating, 

packaging, assembling, labelling, packing, mail 

outs and bagging. Create and Collate has provided 

a trusted service over many years to businesses 

including Owens Truss, Saputo, Alderdice Brass 

Foundry, Rebeccas Café, Warrnambool Racing Club, 

Fisheries Victoria, and Warrnambool City Council. 

Create and Collate has returned excellent financial 

results this financial year in trying economic 

circumstances while also providing our team with 

rewarding employment options. 

Clear Cut Gardening 

Clear Cut Gardening operates out of both 

Warrnambool and Terang and is the region’s 

largest private garden maintenance team. Clear 

Cut undertakes a combination of commercial 

and domestic jobs with key clients including 

Saputo, South West Health Care and several local 

schools as well as over 400 private jobs. Clear Cut 

gardening allows our team to become engaged 

and interact in the local community and provides 

rewarding work experiences. 

Steam and Clean 

Steam and Clean is a success story on many levels 

and is our longest operating Social Enterprise 

business, servicing the Warrnambool district for 

over 40 years. We support 19 employees and 

together they have created a safe, caring, social and 

inclusive environment where our team flourish. 

No job is too big or small for Steam & Clean, and the 

team continually produce high standards of work in 

this car detailing business. Our reputation for quality 

work has seen this business return strong financial 

results this financial year and we have gained the 

trust of several leading clients including Wannon 

Water, Victoria Police, Lyndoch Living as well as a 

loyal client base of private customers. 

NDIS Social and Community  

based activities  

Our social and community activities continue to 

provide a fantastic creative, social and supportive 

outlet for our over 100 participants in an array of 

different experiences.  

Our activities are Artlink, Meet Up Eat Up, 

Creative Craft, Making Sawdust, Beat Lab 

& Southwest Gamers. 

Unfortunately with COVID-19 and the multiple 

lockdowns we have experienced, has had a major 

impact on our ability to run these programs and 

provide consistency with these supports.  

Even with these lockdowns we kept everyone 

engaged and participating where possible.  

When lockdowns start to settle we will be looking 

at expanding and changing our activities to provide 

more varied experiences for our participants.  
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NDIS Plan Management  

Plan Management is a financial intermediary  

service delivered under the National Disability  

Insurance Scheme (NDIS).  

This has now been operating for just under  

3 years and supports over 1,000 participants 

through this service.  

Our team has nearly doubled within the last 

year as we reached 11 staff within this program.  

This past financial year saw the team lodge  

$17 million in claims to enable participants 

to receive supports.  

Plan Management has allowed flexibility 

to participants in the supports they receive.  

Summary 

As the Director of Social Enterprises, I am extremely 

proud on of the nearly 160 staff who work under my 

directorate. I would like to acknowledge our Senior 

Management Team of Nick Membery, Susie Hill, 

Paul Hughes, Viv Porter, Steve Watson and Aiden 

Murphy who have all assisted in guiding our Social 

Enterprises and NDIS Services through what has 

been a very challenging 12 months.  

To all the other staff members who are too many 

to mention, please know that your contribution 

to changing the lives of people with a disability is 

making a real difference to the community we live in.

Jack Melican 

Director of Social Enterprises

Photos (top to bottom):  

L-R Karen Johnson and  

Ami Howe, Create & Collate; 

Glen Jacobson,  

Nigretta of Hamilton.
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TRAINING
2020/2021 was a challenging year for WDEA Works Training. The stop-start nature  

of vocational education during the COVID-19 pandemic had an impact on the wellbeing  

of staff and students at different stages during the year.   

Our staff responded magnificently to all the 

challenges presented during the year. Student 

retention has been excellent, and our student 

numbers are what they were pre COVID-19. That 

said, we continue to monitor COVID-19 fatigue 

closely in our students, and in our staff.  

We delivered the Victorian Government funded 

Certificate III and Diploma of Early Childhood 

Education and Care qualifications. These were 

delivered in Horsham, Hamilton, Warrnambool, 

Ararat, Ballarat, Bendigo and Maryborough. Our 

team of committed trainers continues to foster and 

grow the excellent relationships they have built with 

Early Childhood centres. Our students are based in 

over forty centres across the region. 

First Aid training continues to be a popular and well 

supported program with a great trainer. First Aid 

training is fully funded by our students – there is no 

government subsidy available, so the fact that our 

numbers finished at 8% over target for the year is 

a great result. All this in a year where no delivery 

took place in some months. First Aid training has real 

potential for growth. 

The other program that WDEA Works Training 

delivered during the year was the Career 

Transition Assistance program. This eight-week 

Commonwealth funded program is delivered to 

mature age job seekers. It provides them with 

assistance to assess their current skills, investigate 

careers that may be of interest to them, and learn 

about the local job market. We had 77 people 

participate in the program over the year. 

A new and exciting development for the Registered 

Training Organisation was our registration as a 

Learn Local provider. We were one of very few RTOs 

granted registration during the year. Learn Local 

providers are funded by the State Government to 

deliver introductory level training. This training 

is designed to prepare people for work or further 

study. At this stage we are only authorised to deliver 

Learn Local programs in the Warrnambool Local 

Government area. 

Terry White 

Training Manager
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Our staff  
responded 

magnificently to 
all the challenges 

presented during the 
year. Student retention 

has been excellent,  
and our student 

numbers are what they 
were pre COVID-19."

Photo: The WDEA Works  

Training team.
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PEOPLE  
AND CULTURE
WDEA Works Leadership Program 

Seventeen members of our management team 

undertook this inaugural training during 2020/2021.  

Delivered by local provider Cooper Hardiman, 

using a mix of face to face and online formats due to 

COVID-19, participants provided excellent feedback 

on the experience.  

WDEA Works Leadership Program is a 

comprehensive leadership development program 

which provided participants with the skills, tools 

and techniques to enhance their team’s outputs and 

tackle the challenges of leadership with confidence. 

Learning with (and from) a consistent group of peers, 

participating Managers had the opportunity to 

enhance their leadership skills by attending seven 

workshops over the course of a year. Participants 

also had access to experienced mentors who worked 

with them 1:1 to support them to achieve better 

outcomes in the workplace.  

Topics covered in the program included: 

 + Challenging Conversations

 + Interviewing and Selecting for Success

 + Creating a culture of Employee Accountability

 + Managing and Lifting Performance

 + HR for Managers

 + Personal Effectiveness

Our graduating participants were:

John Ward, Samantha Hallam, Liz McCulloch, 

Stephanie Caunter, Tammie Hawke, Yvette Bell, 

Seamus Guinan, Jackie Cozens, Tara Miller, Aiden 

Murphy, Trudi Perkins, Julianne Runnalls, Caro 

Randall, Milena Millar, Chelsea McInnes, Jenny 

Brown and Vicki Clayton.

The WDEA Works Leadership program is also 

planned for the 2021/2022 year with an increase 

in participant numbers allowing WDEA Works an 

opportunity to invest in the next tier of leaders for 

the organisation, who are a very important element 

of our strategic plan.
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ELMO 

WDEA Works Human Resource Information System 

(HRIS) ELMO has been instrumental to our overall 

organisation’s performance since its inception, but 

most importantly throughout the last financial year.  

The People and Culture team have successfully 

implemented Recruitment, Onboarding, Learning & 

Development and Performance modules.

Throughout 2020/2021 ELMO’s recruitment 

module has supported growth and assisted our 

People and Culture Team to add 210 employees 

to our organisation, through internal and external 

appointments. The Onboarding module allowed 

People and Culture to onboard these staff in 

an entirely paperless way, replacing a previous 

onboarding workflow which consisted of 50+ pieces 

of paper per new employee.  

The Learning and Development module has been, 

and will continue to be an essential focus for the 

People and Culture team as we strive to meet our 

strategic initiative “Invest in Our People”. Through 

the creation of a multitude of Learning modules 

we have been able to successfully train and inform 

our staff in areas of culture, policies, processes and 

organisational change. Through ELMO’s ability 

to record and store the learning our staff has 

completed, we have been able to successfully pass 

14 audits.  

The focus for ELMO is now turned toward our 

Rewards and Recognition module, which will 

become the anchoring point for the Cultural 

Framework our People and Culture team will 

strive to implement as part of our strategic plan.  

Rewards and Recognition will build a culture  

of recognition and pride  

throughout our organisation.  

With peer-to-peer recognition, social features, 

integrated rewards, and gamification our aim is 

to utilise this addition to our ELMO platform to 

increase employee engagement, assist  

in employee retention and decrease employee 

turnover. Exciting times ahead for ELMO and  

WDEA Works! 

Diversity Council of Australia

Proudly in 2020 WDEA Works became a member 

of Diversity Council Australia (DCA); this was 

an important step. Membership has assisted to 

highlight the commitment WDEA Works has to our 

communities. It provides staff a resource to gain 

a stronger understanding of our responsibility to 

experience the benefits of diversity, the need to 

cultivate not just a diverse workplace but importantly 

also an inclusive one. Being a member of DCA enables 

our staff access unique research, attend inspiring 

events and programs, curated resources and expert 

advice across all diversity dimensions to a community 

of member organisations. 

Inclusion is achieved when a diversity of people feel 

that they are respected, connected, progressing 

and contributing to organisational success. WDEA 

Works’ commitment is to provide our staff the 

opportunity to further their understanding of 

diversity and inclusion to ensure that we become 

the leaders within our communities to fostering 

Diversity and Inclusion. 

Andrew Giblin 

Director of People, Culture & Training

Inclusion is achieved when  
a diversity of people feel that  
they are respected, connected,  
progressing and contributing  

to organisational success."
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Photo: Davina Narrainen, 

WDEA Works Geelong  

with the site’s new AED.
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OCCUPATIONAL 
HEALTH AND  
SAFETY
The two major Occupational Health and Safety (OHS) initiatives that have been 

implemented over the past 12 months is our ‘stand alone’ online Incident and Hazard 

reporting system ‘Riskware’ and the purchase of 24 Automated External Defibrillators 

(AED’s) that are now located all of our full-time sites. 

Riskware is a user-friendly system where all 

employees can quickly and easily report incidents 

or hazards as soon as they occur to ensure timely 

incident reporting. Incidents are automatically 

assigned to the responsible person to investigate, 

determine a root cause and put an action plan in 

place to prevent a re-occurrence. Incident and safety 

performance data can also be analysed to enable 

WDEA Works to provide relevant, robust and timely 

information to assist in decisions that influence 

ongoing business performance. 

In May 2021 WDEA Work’s Executive Team 

approved the purchase of 24 Automated External 

Defibrillators (AED’s). AED’s are a sophisticated 

easy-to-use life-saving device used to treat Sudden 

Cardiac Arrest. The supply of these AED’s across 

our sites not only show a commitment to our own 

staff’s safety and wellbeing but will also be made 

available for use by the broader community. The site 

addresses of all the AED’s are now registered with 

the relevant State Ambulance Authorities for the 

communities use during office hours.  

Barry Crimmin 

OHS Manager

The supply of these AED's across our 
sites not only show a commitment to 
our own staff's safety and wellbeing 
but will also be made available for 
use by the broader community."



COMMUNITY 
WDEA Works is proud to support and be involved in the communities in which we operate. 

Through sponsorships, donations, and volunteering we provide support to community 

organisations, not-for-profits, sporting clubs and events.    

We are dedicated to ensuring our communities and 

the groups which operate within them have the 

resources they need to be inclusive and thriving. 

During the 2021/2022 year WDEA Works has been 

involved in over 40 sponsorships and donations. 

Across WDEA Works footprint some these 

sponsorships included, local business events and 

awards, local football and netball clubs, cricket clubs, 

golf clubs, sporting awards, theatre productions, 

events, Passport 2 Employment, art prizes and 

business support. 

WDEA Works has also provided support 

to the fundraising efforts of the Gillin Boys 

Foundation, Warrnambool & District Food Share, 

South West Healthcare and the Maryborough 

Oncology Fundraiser. 

WDEA Works staff members have made personal 

contributions, volunteering with local Meals on 

Wheels groups and organising out-of-uniform days 

and morning teas. They often use these occasions 

to fundraise for charities such as R U OK Day, 

The Royal Children’s Hospital, Australia’s Biggest 

Morning Tea and Wear it Purple Day.  

It was important to us that our community knew 

that they could rely on WDEA Works to continue 

to support them over the past twelve months. 

We know that it has been a difficult time for 

organisations and wanted our ongoing  

support to be one less thing they needed  

to worry about. These organisations are  

at the heart of many of our communities  

and provide an invaluable source of  

social connection. 

Andrea Hogan 

Director of Communication  

& Engagement



We are dedicated to 
ensuring our communities 

and the groups which 
operate within them have the 

resources they need to be 
inclusive and thriving."

Photo: Some of WDEA Works 

Warrnambool staff members 

dressed in yellow to raise funds and 

awareness for endometritis.
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The achievement of Right 
Fit For Risk was not an  
easy task. It required  
a dedicated team of  
WDEA Works staff."

Photo: Sam Visinoni, IT 

Support Officer on a video call.
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CORPORATE 
SERVICES 
Risk  

Our organisation aims to have a fully embedded 

enterprise wide risk management system. We aim 

to use risk management in our everyday thinking, 

activities, and actions and our objective is that no 

action is taken without looking at potential risks. 

This commitment to risk management means 

our organisation will be safer and more efficient 

and effective.  

Our commitment to risk management has seen 

the organisation engage a Risk Management 

Consultant who has worked with the COM, Program 

Managers and the Executive Team to confirm 

strategic and operational risks, review and update 

the Risk Management Framework to align with 

ISO 31000:2018, and to appoint a Risk Manager, 

who in collaboration with the Director of Strategy 

and Growth oversees the implementation of the 

Risk Management Framework throughout the 

organisation. We have also fully implemented the 

Riskware software platform that has streamlined 

our risk register and risk reporting.  

This commitment has meant that risk has become 

a process embedded in our everyday thinking. It 

has ensured we promote a risk culture and tone 

that is set and endorsed at the top with constant 

consultation and two-way communication across 

all levels of the organisation   

Right Fit For Risk (RFFR)  

The past twelve months have seen an organisation-

wide commitment to achieving RFFR accreditation. 

The basis of RFFR is to ensure our organisation 

is committed to keeping information secure and 

that we are able to provide assurances to our 

stakeholders that we have processes in place to 

achieve this. 

We were extremely happy to achieve this accreditation 

in 2021 with a fantastic audit result. 

The achievement of RFFR was not an easy task. It 

required a dedicated team of WDEA Works staff 

to work many additional hours and to quickly learn 

new concepts far outside of their skill set. There was 

a large financial commitment from the organisation 

to ensure software solutions were procured to meet 

RFFR requirements as well as upgrades and additions 

to IT operating systems. Subject matter experts were 

engaged to provide guidance on how to implement 

requirements as well as project management to 

ensure tasks were completed as planned.  

The entire staff of WDEA Works have embraced 

RFFR and have shown a willingness to accept the 

new concepts this accreditation requires. Staff have 

adapted to the many changes we needed to make 

and have demonstrated a strong commitment to this 

growth within our organisation. 

We will now continue to ensure that we maintain 

this accreditation with ongoing staff awareness, 

additional education of key personnel and continued 

internal and external audits of this subject. 
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Information Technology 

The IT Department remains one of the core 

elements to the business for WDEA Works. The IT 

investment over the last year has been fundamental 

in making sure our staff are able to meet the new 

RFFR compliance and enabling all our staff the 

capability to work at home to create great outcomes 

for our clients while in this new normal. 

Some of the upgrades this year include new 

internet connections to all sites, disaster recovery 

equipment, server upgrades and relocation, virtual 

phone system, network, and wireless refresh and 

new client facing public computers. 

Whilst this has created a huge workload for our IT 

staff; meeting deadlines for RFFR accreditation and 

dealing with new work from home environments, 

it has ensured WDEA Works’ information security 

remains at the forefront of day-to-day activities for 

our flexible workforce. 

The entire staff of WDEA Works have embraced the 

new technologies. With all this new connectiveness 

across many sites, WDEA Works is now able to 

hold meetings of up to 250 people at once in an 

immersive experience.  

Quality 

Over the previous 12 months the Quality 

Department have very busy working on numerous 

projects, some of the projects undertaken include: 

 + RFFR - ISO27001 - Information Security 

Management System – Assisted in achieving 

RFFR accreditation for Department of 

Education, Skills and Employment. 

 + AS/NZS 5377 - E-waste Transport and 

Dismantling Standard – E-waste business 

accredited to the AS/NZS 5377 standard. 

 + NSDS External Audit – Our DES Program had 

their National Standards for Disability Services 

(NSDS) Recertification audit.  The audit was 

conducted remotely by three assessors from 

HDAA involving Warrnambool, Colac, Portland 

and Hamilton sites.  The overall results were 

great for the DES Program, with no Non-

Conformities; only recommendations from the 

Auditors. A big thank you to all the staff that 

participated and assisted with the audit; an 

outstanding achievement by all. 

 + Single Sign-On (SSO) for Jobready – 

Implemented SSO for our JobReady client 

management system.  

 + Revamping Feedback System – additional 

surveys and data tracking. 



This year WDEA Works has revamped our 

feedback system which has included the 

implementation of a compliments register to track 

the amazing feedback our staff receive servicing 

our clients; some highlights so far include: 

 ‘It’s hard to find people who genuinely want to 
work. The people who are seeking employment 
through WDEA Works are usually hard-working 
individuals who need a helping hand to get back 
to work. Keep doing what you’re doing! It’s a great 
service for people that really need It’. 

 ‘I am very happy with the service I receive from 
WDEA. I am treated as a person and with respect. 

Not only do I get the physical help I need but they 
also take the time to listen to me which helps with 
my mental health as well’. 

‘All staff that I have had contact with through 
the Maryborough office have been amazing, very 
helpful and friendly. They all go above and beyond 
to make sure the client is happy’. 

‘Staff have always been pleasant and helpful, I’ve had 
a few days when I wasn’t the best, and the care and 
concern shown was admirable. Thank you all.’ 

Thanks to all staff for their assistance in what’s 

been a very productive year. 

Strategy 

June 2021 saw the end the 2018-2021 Strategic 

Plan. A huge effort by all involved helped complete 

the strategic initiatives. Of the 21 initiatives, 11 

were completed in the 2020/2021 financial year. 

A great result by all. The work completed has 

helped WDEA Works have impact with our clients, 

employers, employees, communities and funders. 

Extensive work was undertaken in the first half of 

2021 to develop a new strategy, part of which was 

to review and refine our vision and purpose. We 

had a key engagement with Social Venture Australia 

to assist us with the strategy and vision / purpose. 

Extensive consultation was undertaken with key 

stakeholder to develop the strategy. The key themes 

of the 2021-2026 strategy are; 

 + Do more for people in our community 

 + Leverage our financial assets 

 + Involve the community  

 + Be the leader 

 + Invest in our people  

Mark Koch 

Director of Strategy & Growth

we revamped our feedback 
system which has included the 

implementation of a compliments 
register to track the amazing 

feedback our staff receive."
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RECONCILIATION 
ACTION PLAN
During the 2020/2021 year WDEA Works made the commitment to undertake 

a Reconciliation Action Plan (RAP) and commenced the work for a Reflect RAP. 

WDEA Works is committed to serving our clients, 

stakeholders and communities and believe 

undertaking a journey of reconciliation through the 

Reconciliation Action Plan process will allow us to 

do this better.  

We believe that we have a role to play in ensuring 

First Nations people feel culturally safe using 

our services so they can access education, skill 

development or support to undertake further study 

or employment.  

We will ensure that our staff can develop their 

knowledge, understanding and competency in how 

to provide a culturally safe space. We would also like 

to actively contribute to our wider community and 

their reconciliation journey.  

WDEA Works’ approach to our Reconciliation 

Action Plan has been to reflect as individuals on our 

current understanding of reconciliation through 

courses and learning modules and to reach out to 

the Traditional Owners of the lands on which WDEA 

Works operates. 

To assist with preparing the RAP, WDEA Works 

engaged the services of Sandra Brogden, a 

Noongar, Karajarri, Bard woman from Western 

Australia. Sandra has lived and worked in Victoria 

for the past 13 years and helped us work with 

Traditional Landowners to gain an understanding 

of how they feel WDEA Works is/has supported 

reconciliation. Sandra has assisted in building 

relationships so we can work together to build a 

stronger, culturally safe and supportive future.  

The actions and deliverables from WDEA 

Works’ Reflect Reconciliation Action Plan 

will commence August 2021. 

Photo: WDEA Works staff 

members were invited to share 

their handprint as a symbol of their 

commitment to reconciliation.
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We believe that we  
have a role to play  

in ensuring First  
Nations people feel  

culturally safe using  
our services."



OUR EXECUTIVE

Jason Ernst 
Chief Financial Officer

Qualifications: B.Business (Accounting),  

FCPA, GAICD

Jason has a long association with WDEA Works 

spanning over 16 years, serving initially as Finance 

Manager followed by Director of Finance before 

taking the opportunity to further his professional 

development within the education sector.

Jason returned to the WDEA Works family after 3 

years in 2019 to take on the role of Chief Financial 

Officer and lends his skills in financial management 

and performance, along with investment strategy 

development to the organisation to support its 

robust financial compliance requirements.

Tom Scarborough 
Chief Executive Officer

Qualifications: MBA, GAICD

Tom joined WDEA Works  as CEO in April 2019 

after 3 years as National Director of Commercial 

Operations and 2 years as General Manager for 

Australian Red Cross. Prior to this, Tom worked for 

Centacare for 10 years and is well versed in all areas 

of business, developing skills and experience while 

managing his own businesses for 14 years before 

transitioning to the not-for-profit sector.

Tom’s decision to move into humanitarian services 

was driven by his desire to help others and give back 

to the community. He brings a wealth of experience 

in jobactive and Disability Employment Services, 

NDIS, social enterprises, new apprenticeships and 

registered training organisations.

His background in commercial business balanced 

with 18 years of experience in the not-for-profit 

sector, holds him in good stead to lead WDEA 

Works as the CEO. Tom completed his MBA through 

Griffith University in 2017 and is a graduate of the 

Australian Institute of Company Directors
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Photo: Tom Scarborough, Andrea 

Hogan sharing their handprint 

commitment to reconciliation.

I thank you all as a team 
for your dedication to WDEA 

Works. The success of the 
organisation over these 

challenging times can be 
attributed to you and the 

teams you lead."
Dennis Barnett, COM Chair



Andrew Giblin 
Director of People,  
Culture & Training 

Qualifications:  
B. Mgt, GCertBA, MBA 

Andrew’s association with WDEA 

Works spans over 13 years 

beginning in 2001 working within 

Employment Services, before taking 

the opportunity to broaden his 

experience in the Human Resources 

sector with Warrnambool’s largest 

employer, South West Healthcare. 

Andrew’s passion for WDEA Works 

and his desire to make a difference 

in the community was evident in 

2008 & 2009 when he served on 

the WDEA Works Committee of 

Management. Andrew returned 

home to WDEA Works in 2014 in 

his current position as Director 

of People, Culture and Training. 

Andrew’s portfolio consists of 

People and Culture, Occupational 

Health and Safety and WDEA 

Works Training, allowing him to 

offer training and development 

opportunities to both employees 

and the wider community.

Andrea Hogan 
Director of Communication  
& Engagement

Qualifications: DipBusMgt 

(Marketing), GCertBA, MBA 

(Currently Completing)

Andrea has over 20 years industry 

experience and has been with 

WDEA Works for the past 2 years. 

Andrea provides WDEA Works 

with increased breadth and 

depth of leadership in marketing, 

communication, engagement and 

associated fields. 

Andrea has a passion in the not-

for-profit sector and loves that 

her work makes a difference.  

“working for an organisation 

with strong values, and believes 

everyone deserves to feel 

valued. Providing people with 

opportunities that promote 

self-belief and confidence is a 

critical component to building 

a stronger community.”

Jack Melican 
Director of  
Social Enterprises

Qualifications: Masters of 

Education (Special Needs 

Education), GCArts (Theology)

A former teacher, Jack now 

oversees the WDEA Works 

programs transferring to the 

NDIS, working with around 120 

participants, including supported 

employees, support workers and 

volunteers.

As well as a Masters in Special 

Needs Education, Jack offers 

extensive business acumen, having 

owned a number of businesses in 

Brisbane and Queensland prior to 

joining WDEA Works in 2011.

Beyond the organisation, Jack 

is a proud Wangoom resident 

and currently president of The 

Wangoom Recreational Reserve 

and The Wangoom Cooperative. 

He is also a committee member 

and volunteer at the Wangoom 

Cricket Club and Russell’s Creek 

Football Netball Club.

OUR EXECUTIVE CONT.
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Mark Koch 
Director of Strategy & Growth 

Qualifications: B.AppSci, 

AdvDipBusMan, AFIML, GAICD, 

GCertBA (Currently Completing)

Mark joined WDEA Works in 

February 2017, bringing with him 

over 19 years of management 

experience in a range of sectors, 

across regional Victoria. Honing 

his business acumen in industries 

including retail, sport, professional 

services, and for the past 12 years 

in the not-for-profit sector, where 

he admits he found his passion.

It is this passion for the not-for-

profit sector that drew Mark to 

WDEA Works. A country boy at 

heart, growing up on a farm near 

Horsham, Mark knows the value 

of community, initially working in 

the farming industry and within 

rural community services (family 

services, foster care and family 

counselling). WDEA Works 

enables Mark to continue working 

within the community, with the 

purpose of making a difference 

in the lives of people living with a 

disability or disadvantage.

Brett Orr 
Director of Employment  
& Sustainability 

A 17-year veteran of Employment 

Services, Brett continues to be a 

staunch advocate for people with 

disadvantage and disability to 

access employment opportunities 

and be given an avenue to improve 

their circumstances and participate 

in the communities in which they 

live. The scope of Brett’s work 

has expanded over the years to 

include disability and mainstream 

employment programs.

He is a respected voice for the 

industry, participating in forums 

and offering advice to help 

shape the future of employment 

programs at a national level. Brett 

is a very busy family man, father 

of three young children with 

Nicole, and meets the challenge of 

a busy work/life balance as well as 

volunteering in the communities 

in which he is involved.
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CFO REPORT
WDEA Works has recorded a surplus of $1.7m for the 2020/2021 financial year. This 

represents a sound result; in particular given the ongoing effects that COVID-19 has had 

on the economy, local businesses, employers, clients and on our service delivery models. 

Total revenue was $57.6m, an increase of $12.6 

million from the previous year. This increase was  

due to the:  

 + Strong performance of the jobactive program, 

servicing an increased caseload over the 12 

month period due to COVID-19, and an increase 

over the last 6 months of job placements and 

the number of clients that reached 13 week 

employment outcomes

 + Solid increase in Sales and Service income 

generated through NDIS social enterprises 

businesses, during a challenging trading 

environment

 + Continued growth of the School Leavers 

Employment Supports (SLES) program and NDIS 

Plan Management services

 + Receipt of the Government’s JobKeeper 

Support Payment 

This increased growth has been supported by a 

corresponding increase in expenditure. 

Total expenses were $55.9m, an increase of $14.1 

million from the previous year. This has been due to: 

 + Increase in staff numbers to service a higher 

number of jobseekers and clients, to deliver new 

and growing services, and to strengthen the 

organisation structure to meet the organisations 

current needs whilst positioning WDEA Works 

for future strategic growth opportunities 

 + Growing supports for jobseekers, clients and 

employers with an increase in program and 

clients costs

 + Increased use of consultancy services to achieve 

Right-Fit-For-Risk accreditation, project and 

change management, and development of the 

Strategic Plan 2021-2026

 + Increased investment in IT software and 

internet/phone services to provide improved 

quality of service, in particular to support Work-

From-Home requirements

 + Supporting our communities through 

continued expenditure through the WDEA 

Works Foundation, sponsorship initiatives and 

purchasing through our local communities

WDEA Work’s Statement of Financial Position 

remains strong, with Net Assets of $25.1 million.   

WDEA has maintained strong liquidity, solvency and 

financial ratios which provides a strong foundation 

to continue to deliver on our vision, and meet the 

needs of our community.

Jason Ernst 

Chief Financial Officer
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GOVERNANCE
The past year has been a time of growth for the Committee of Management, developing 

governance systems and structures that support COM Members in delivering on their 

fiduciary duties.  

WDEA Works exists within a complex operating 

environment, governed by multiple regulatory and 

compliance requirements, and with WDEA Works’ 

vision of inclusive, thriving communities comes the 

responsibility to act in accordance with its many 

legislative and regulatory frameworks.   

By developing robust governance practices, the 

WDEA Works Committee of Management supports 

the organisation in delivering on its strategic 

priorities. Activities that have strengthened the 

COM’s maturity in governance and regulatory 

compliance include: 

 + Developing best practice annual scheduling for 

the Committee and its sub-committees, 

 + Review and renewal of COM governance 

policies to meet an ever-evolving governance 

landscape, 

 + Development of its Board Governance Manual, 

allowing COM Members easy access to 

procedural information that supports them in 

the delivery of their duties, 

 + Ongoing development of reporting mechanisms 

and methods, supporting the Executive Team 

to deliver reports that enables the COM to 

align organisational decisions with a focus on 

delivering on its strategic direction, and risk 

mitigation activities. 

The strengthening of governance practices 

ensures that the Committee of Management is 

appropriately positioned to continue to fulfil its 

duty to WDEA Works, its regulators, and to the 

wider communities that it serves.  

Alison joined WDEA Works in 2019, bringing 

with her experience in policy development, board 

governance, and compliance from a history of work 

within the utilities industry.

With a history in information governance and business 

analysis, she draws on this wide skillset to support the 

organisation in delivering on strategic objectives.

As a graduate of the Australian Institute of Company 

Directors, she uses her insight into director duties to 

support and guide the Committee of Management in 

its operation and compliance requirements.

Alison Toohey 

Company Secretary 

Qualifications: GCertBA; 

GAICD; Adv. Dip 

Management; Adv. Dip 

Record keeping 

Annual Report 2020/2021 39



COMMITTEE  
OF MANAGEMENT

Patricia (Trish) McLean 
Vice-Chairperson 

Sub Committees: Governance 

Committee; WDEA Training 

Committee

Years of Service: 5

Qualifications: Dip. Business 

Mgmt; Dip. OH&S; Cert IV 

Business Administration; Cert IV 

Frontline Mgmt; Bail Justice (RET), 

Justice of the Peace; FRVAHJ

Trish is passionate about improving 

lifestyles and opportunities for 

people with a disability, particularly 

those living in her home community 

of Heywood. Trish has experience in 

multiple fields, including disability 

support agencies as well as owning 

small hotels in South Australia 

and Victoria. Trish has first-hand 

experience of WDEA Works, 

engaging them to place employees 

in her own business. She also has 

a long association with Heywood 

Rural Health, and other community 

initiatives in her local area.  

Dennis Barnett 
Chair

Sub Committees:  
Finance & Audit Committee;  

Governance Committee

Years of Service: 4

Qualifications: B. Business 

(Accounting); B. Information 

Technology

Dennis has always been 

passionate about community, 

involving himself in a range of 

community activities– including 

volunteering for the CFA, judging 

the Bendigo Business Excellence 

Awards, and running free 

soccer clinics for Bendigo-based 

disability service providers. As 

part of his role as a chartered 

accountant, Dennis regularly 

provides advice to a diverse range 

of businesses, including the health 

and disability sectors and many 

not-for-profit organisations.

Cameron Power 
Treasurer

Sub Committees: Finance & Audit 

Committee (Chair); Risk, Quality, 

and Compliance Committee

Years of Service: 2

Qualifications: MBA, GAICD, FCPA

Cameron brings experience to 

the Committee in organisational 

financial sustainability, strategic 

planning, and risk management 

from his various roles.

Cameron is a fellow of the CPA, 

Graduate of the Australian 

Institute of Company Directors, 

and holds a Master of Business 

Administration. As a passionate 

humanitarian, Cameron is 

focused on assisting WDEA 

Works achieve its vision to 

create strong communities that 

support individuals, families, 

and local businesses.
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COMMITTEE  
OF MANAGEMENT

Michael Obst 
Secretary 

Sub Committees: Risk, Quality, and 

Compliance Committee (Chair); 

WDEA Training Committee

Years of Service: 5

Qualifications: LL.B (Hons); BE 

(Hones), GDLP

Michael is a Warrnambool-raised 

lawyer whose involvement in 

the Committee of Management 

is driven by an interest in giving 

back to his local community.  

Michael particularly values the 

social connectedness and sense 

of purpose that employment 

provides to people with 

disabilities, and says he is proud to 

help grow an organisation which 

delivers these benefits for the 

local community.

Michael (Mick) White 
Committee Member 

Sub Committees: Finance & Audit 

Committee; Risk, Quality, and 

Compliance Committee

Years of Service: 2

Mick is one of three founding 

employees of WDEA Works in 

1989. Before his appointment 

as CEO, he worked tirelessly to 

help grow the organisation from 

a small Warrnambool based 

disability employment agency to 

one of the leading providers of 

Disability Employment and Job 

Network Services in Victoria and 

South Australia. 

Mick retired in 2017, focusing on 

community initiatives, and serves 

as Chair of the Warrnambool 

Greyhound Racing Club, Chair 

of Warrnambool and District 

Food Share, and member 

of Warrnambool & District 

Community Hospice. 

Mary Graham 
Committee Member 

Sub Committees: Finance and 

Audit Committee, Governance 

Committee (Chair)

Years of Service: 10

Qualifications: PHD Economics; 

M. Comm.; B.Ec.; Dip Ec.; Dip. Ed

Having trained as an economist, 

Mary moved into secondary 

teaching, then continued onto 

post-secondary and tertiary 

education, spending more than 

20 years teaching undergraduate 

economics. Mary also undertook 

research across a broad range of 

subjects, including the teaching of 

economics, income distribution, 

business sustainability and 

the environmental impacts of 

agriculture. Since retiring from 

university, she has taken up the 

administration of the family 

business which uses WDEA 

Works to source its employees.
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Annabel Cussen 
Committee Member 

Sub Committees: Risk, Quality, and Compliance 

Committee; WDEA Training Committee

Years of Service: 1

Qualifications: B. Env. Sci.; Dip. Natural Resources; 

IAP2 Australasia

Annabel comes to WDEA Works with experience in 

government and not-for-profit, with a foundational 

background in grants, funding and philanthropy, 

economic development, community engagement, 

and education.

A natural networker, Annabel has strong regional 

networks in the south-west region and strives for 

collaborative work and outcomes with genuine 

social impact.

She is the Executive Officer of the Fletcher Jones 

Family Foundations, a Board Member of Leadership 

Great South Coast, and advocates for inclusive 

communities that provide opportunities for 

businesses, individuals, and families.   

Dr. Ian Burke 
Committee Member

Sub Committees: Governance Committee; WDEA 

Training Committee (Chair)

Years of Service: 1

Qualifications: B.Ec, MBus(Mkt) PhD

Ian is a professional leader with entrepreneurial 

drive, planning orientation and a record of success 

in establishing and growing businesses in private, 

public, and not-for-profit arenas. Ian has sound 

financial, marketing, general management and 

change management skills with demonstrated 

experience in building, motivating, and leading teams 

through the collaborative matching of resources 

and capabilities to marketplace opportunities.  

Ian brings experience in policy formulation and 

implementation, and a demonstrated commitment 

to regional and community engagement, and as 

a published researcher in strategy formulation, 

strategic alliances, marketing communications, and 

relationship marketing. 
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Kellie King 
Secretary

Years of Service: 2

Retired: October 2020

Qualifications: BA, BSc; GCert PPM, GAICD, MIWA

Kellie has enjoyed a rich and varied career, 

working for governments, not-for-profits, and 

independent consultancy within education, health, 

and community sectors. Kellie has held volunteer 

roles including Chairperson of Lifeline South West 

Victoria, and President of the Merrivale Primary 

School Council. Throughout her working life, she has 

focused on vulnerable communities, engagement, 

and cross-sectoral partnerships. Kellie is a graduate 

of the Williamson Community Leadership Program, 

JMW’s Leader of the Future Program, and Graduate 

of the Australian Institute of Company Directors.
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Western District Employment Access Inc.
COMMITTEE'S REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

Committee Members
The names of the committee members at any time during or since the end of the year are:

Mr Dennis Barnett - Chairperson Mr Michael Obst - Secretary from October 2020
Ms Patricia (Trish) McLean - Vice Chairperson Mr Michael (Mick) White
Mr Cameron Power - Treasurer Mrs Mary Graham
Mrs Kellie King - Secretary - retired October 2020 Ms Annabel Cussen - appointed September 2020
Mr Gerald (Ian) Burke - appointed October 2020

Committee members have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless otherwise stated.

Meetings of Members of the Committee
During the financial year, 8 meetings of the committee were held. Attendances by each committee member were:

Mr Dennis Barnett 8 8
Ms Patricia (Trish) McLean 8 6
Mr Cameron Power 8 7
Mrs Kellie King 2 2
Mr Gerald (Ian) Burke 5 5
Mr Michael Obst 8 7
Mr Michael (Mick) White 8 8
Mrs Mary Graham 8 7
Ms Annabel Cussen 6 6

Review of Operations

Principal Activities

No significant change in the nature of those operations occurred during the year.

Objectives
-To delivery high quality employment services
-To provide services that build skills and help people engage in community life
-To introduce new business and innovations that transform WDEA models and impact
-To ensure our business operations enable us to deliver on our vision

The Committee of Management of Western District Employment Access Inc. presents their report, together with the financial statements
of the consolidated group for the year ended 30 June 2021.

Committee Member's Meetings
Number 

eligible to 
attend

Number 
attended

The consolidated surplus after providing for income tax for the financial year amounted to $1,704,176 (2020: Surplus $3,159,080).

The principal activity of the Association is to help people of all abilities enhance their lives and achieve their goals. This is done by the
provision of supported employment opportunities, disability employment services, Jobactive, Work for the Dole, accredited training,
NDIS and plan management services.
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WDEA has maintained 
strong liquidity, 
solvency and financial 
ratios which provides  
a strong foundation  
to continue to deliver 
on our vision, and  
meet the needs  
of our community."

FINANCIAL  
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Western District Employment Access Inc.
COMMITTEE'S REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

Committee Members
The names of the committee members at any time during or since the end of the year are:

Mr Dennis Barnett - Chairperson Mr Michael Obst - Secretary from October 2020
Ms Patricia (Trish) McLean - Vice Chairperson Mr Michael (Mick) White
Mr Cameron Power - Treasurer Mrs Mary Graham
Mrs Kellie King - Secretary - retired October 2020 Ms Annabel Cussen - appointed September 2020
Mr Gerald (Ian) Burke - appointed October 2020

Committee members have been in office since the start of the financial year to the date of this report unless otherwise stated.

Meetings of Members of the Committee
During the financial year, 8 meetings of the committee were held. Attendances by each committee member were:

Mr Dennis Barnett 8 8
Ms Patricia (Trish) McLean 8 6
Mr Cameron Power 8 7
Mrs Kellie King 2 2
Mr Gerald (Ian) Burke 5 5
Mr Michael Obst 8 7
Mr Michael (Mick) White 8 8
Mrs Mary Graham 8 7
Ms Annabel Cussen 6 6

Review of Operations

Principal Activities

No significant change in the nature of those operations occurred during the year.

Objectives
-To delivery high quality employment services
-To provide services that build skills and help people engage in community life
-To introduce new business and innovations that transform WDEA models and impact
-To ensure our business operations enable us to deliver on our vision

The Committee of Management of Western District Employment Access Inc. presents their report, together with the financial statements
of the consolidated group for the year ended 30 June 2021.

Committee Member's Meetings
Number 

eligible to 
attend

Number 
attended

The consolidated surplus after providing for income tax for the financial year amounted to $1,704,176 (2020: Surplus $3,159,080).

The principal activity of the Association is to help people of all abilities enhance their lives and achieve their goals. This is done by the
provision of supported employment opportunities, disability employment services, Jobactive, Work for the Dole, accredited training,
NDIS and plan management services.
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FINANCIAL REPORT

Western District Employment Access Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

2021 2020 2021 2020
Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Revenue and other income
Program funding 2 51,767 38,884 51,610 39,910 
Other revenue 3 5,134 5,415 5,880 5,074 
Net gain on disposal of property plant & equipment 4 121 18 121 18 
Total revenue and other income 57,022 44,317 57,611 45,002 

Expenditure
Employee benefits expense 5 (22,962) (19,786) (23,539) (20,403) 
Program expenses 6 (24,732) (14,806) (24,589) (14,696) 
Depreciation and amortisation 11(a) (2,052) (1,722) (2,055) (1,735) 
IT and communication expenses (1,754) (1,164) (1,781) (1,191) 
Administrative expenses 7 (1,759) (2,312) (1,783) (2,365) 
Professional costs (1,286) (533) (1,281) (533) 
Advertising and marketing (472) (599) (506) (599) 
Motor vehicle operating costs (265) (220) (288) (249) 
Foundation grants (85) (71) (85) (71) 
Total expenditure (55,367) (41,213) (55,907) (41,843) 

NET RESULT FOR THE YEAR 1,655 3,104 1,704 3,159 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 1,655 3,104 1,704 3,159 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial accounts.

Consolidated EntityParent Entity

3

Western District Employment Access Inc.
COMMITTEE'S REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

Events subsequent to the end of the reporting period

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Committee:

Dated at Warrnambool this 29th day of September 2021.

Chairperson Secretary
Mr Dennis Barnett Mr Michael Obst 

No matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the financial year which significantly affected or may significantly affect the
operations of the Association, the results of those operations or the state or affairs of the Association in future financial years.

2
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Western District Employment Access Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

2021 2020 2021 2020
Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Revenue and other income
Program funding 2 51,767 38,884 51,610 39,910 
Other revenue 3 5,134 5,415 5,880 5,074 
Net gain on disposal of property plant & equipment 4 121 18 121 18 
Total revenue and other income 57,022 44,317 57,611 45,002 

Expenditure
Employee benefits expense 5 (22,962) (19,786) (23,539) (20,403) 
Program expenses 6 (24,732) (14,806) (24,589) (14,696) 
Depreciation and amortisation 11(a) (2,052) (1,722) (2,055) (1,735) 
IT and communication expenses (1,754) (1,164) (1,781) (1,191) 
Administrative expenses 7 (1,759) (2,312) (1,783) (2,365) 
Professional costs (1,286) (533) (1,281) (533) 
Advertising and marketing (472) (599) (506) (599) 
Motor vehicle operating costs (265) (220) (288) (249) 
Foundation grants (85) (71) (85) (71) 
Total expenditure (55,367) (41,213) (55,907) (41,843) 

NET RESULT FOR THE YEAR 1,655 3,104 1,704 3,159 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 1,655 3,104 1,704 3,159 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial accounts.

Consolidated EntityParent Entity
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Western District Employment Access Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

Consolidated Entity Asset Revaluation 
Reserve

Retained 
Earnings Total

$'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at 1 July 2019 1,319 18,945 20,265

Surplus for the year - 3,159 3,159 

Balance at 30 June 2020 1,319 22,104 23,424

Surplus for the year - 1,704 1,704 

Balance at 30 June 2021 1,319 23,808 25,128

Parent entity

Balance at 1 July 2019 1,319 18,943 20,262

Surplus for the year - 3,104 3,104 

Balance at 30 June 2020 1,319 22,047 23,367

Surplus for the year - 1,655 1,655 

Balance at 30 June 2021 1,319 23,702 25,021

The accompanying notes form part of these financial accounts.
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FINANCIAL REPORT

Western District Employment Access Inc.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
AS AT 30 JUNE 2021

2021 2020 2021 2020
Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 4,911 10,974 5,189 11,192 
Accounts receivable and other debtors 8 1,996 2,479 2,067 2,520 
Financial Assets 13,817 5,924 13,863 5,953 
Inventories 111 88 111 88 
Other current assets 9 370 400 294 403 
Assets-held-for-sale 10 177 177 177 177 

Total current assets 21,383 20,041 21,701 20,332 

Non current assets
Property, plant & equipment 11 11,629 10,424 11,649 10,452 
Financial assets 201 201 - - 

Total non current assets 11,830 10,625 11,649 10,452 

TOTAL ASSETS 33,213 30,665 33,349 30,784 

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and other payables 12 2,105 2,080 2,160 2,090 
Employee benefits 13 2,086 1,958 2,127 1,991 
Other liabilities 14 1,820 716 1,823 716 
Lease liabilities 961 992 883 998 

Total current liabilities 6,973 5,746 6,994 5,794 

Non current liabilities
Employee benefits 13 304 381 312 394 
Lease liabilities 914 1,172 914 1,172 

Total non current liabilities 1,219 1,553 1,227 1,566 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 8,192 7,299 8,221 7,360 

NET ASSETS 25,021 23,367 25,128 23,424 

EQUITY
Asset revaluation reserve 1,319 1,319 1,319 1,319 
Retained earnings 23,702 22,047 23,808 22,104 

TOTAL EQUITY 25,021 23,367 25,128 23,424 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial accounts.

Consolidated EntityParent Entity
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Western District Employment Access Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

Consolidated Entity Asset Revaluation 
Reserve

Retained 
Earnings Total

$'000 $'000 $'000

Balance at 1 July 2019 1,319 18,945 20,265

Surplus for the year - 3,159 3,159 

Balance at 30 June 2020 1,319 22,104 23,424

Surplus for the year - 1,704 1,704 

Balance at 30 June 2021 1,319 23,808 25,128

Parent entity

Balance at 1 July 2019 1,319 18,943 20,262

Surplus for the year - 3,104 3,104 

Balance at 30 June 2020 1,319 22,047 23,367

Surplus for the year - 1,655 1,655 

Balance at 30 June 2021 1,319 23,702 25,021

The accompanying notes form part of these financial accounts.
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Western District Employment Access Inc.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

Note 1: Statement of Significant Accounting Policies

The financial statements were authorised for issue on 29 September 2021 by the members of the committee.

Accounting policies

a. Principles of consolidation

Details of controlled entities are disclosed in note 20.

b. Income tax

c. Revenue

Operating Grants, Donations and Bequests

When both these conditions are satisfied, the consolidated entity:

-recognises revenue as it satisfies its performance obligations.

Where the contract is not enforceable or does not have sufficiently specific performance obligations:

Interest Income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

- identifies each performance obligation relating to the grant - recognises a contract liability for its obligations under the
agreement

- recognises relates amounts (being contributions by owners, lease liability, financial instruments, provisions, revenue or
contract liability arising from contract with customer)

Controlled entities are all those entities over which the consolidated entity has the power to govern the financial and operating
policies. Entities are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the consolidated entity. They are de-
recognised from the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions and balances between entities have been eliminated, where necessary, to ensure consistency with
the policies adopted by the consolidated entity.

No provision for income tax has been raised as the entity is exempt from income tax under Div 50 of the Income Tax
Assessment Act 1997.

When the consolidated entity receives operating grant revenue, donations or bequests, it assesses whether the contract is
enforceable and has sufficiently specific performance obligations in accordance with AASB 15.

These consolidated financials are special purpose consolidated financial statements prepared in order to satisfy the financial
reporting requirements of the Associations Incorporation Reform Act 2012 and the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits
Commission Act 2012.  The committee has determined that the entity is not a reporting entity.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis and are based on historical costs. They do not
take into account changing money values or, except where stated specifically, current valuations of non-current assets.

The following significant accounting policies, which are consistent with the previous period unless stated otherwise, have been
adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all controlled entities of Western District
Employment Access Inc. ("parent entity") and the results of all controlled entities for the year then ended. Western District
Employment Access Inc. and its controlled entities are referred to in these financial statements as the "consolidated entity".

The amounts presented in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars. Minor discrepancies in
tables between totals and sum of components are due to rounding.

- recognises the asset received in accordance with the recognition requirements of other applicable accounting standards;

- recognises income immediately in profit or loss as the difference between the initial carrying amount of the asset and the
related amount.
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FINANCIAL REPORT

Western District Employment Access Inc.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

2021 2020 2021 2020
Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts from customers 58,361 42,703 58,920 43,644 
Payments to suppliers and employees (53,243) (38,257) (53,652) (39,172) 
Interest received 127 207 129 207 
Net GST received 41 77 41 77 

NET CASH PROVIDED FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 17 5,286 4,731 5,438 4,756 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale of property, plant & equipment 448 869 448 869 
Payments for property, plant & equipment (2,854) (1,741) (2,846) (1,756) 
Redemption from financial assets - 70 - 70 
Payments for purchase of financial assets (7,893) - (7,908) - 

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (10,299) (802) (10,306) (818) 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payments for lease liabilities (1,050) (931) (1,135) (941) 

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES (1,050) (931) (1,135) (941) 

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH HELD (6,063) 2,997 (6,003) 2,997 

CASH AT BEGINNING OF FINANCIAL YEAR 10,974 7,977 11,192 8,195 

CASH AT END OF FINANCIAL YEAR 4,911 10,974 5,189 11,192 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial accounts.

Consolidated EntityParent Entity
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Western District Employment Access Inc.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

Note 1: Statement of Significant Accounting Policies

The financial statements were authorised for issue on 29 September 2021 by the members of the committee.

Accounting policies

a. Principles of consolidation

Details of controlled entities are disclosed in note 20.

b. Income tax

c. Revenue

Operating Grants, Donations and Bequests

When both these conditions are satisfied, the consolidated entity:

-recognises revenue as it satisfies its performance obligations.

Where the contract is not enforceable or does not have sufficiently specific performance obligations:

Interest Income
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

- identifies each performance obligation relating to the grant - recognises a contract liability for its obligations under the
agreement

- recognises relates amounts (being contributions by owners, lease liability, financial instruments, provisions, revenue or
contract liability arising from contract with customer)

Controlled entities are all those entities over which the consolidated entity has the power to govern the financial and operating
policies. Entities are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the consolidated entity. They are de-
recognised from the date that control ceases.

Intercompany transactions and balances between entities have been eliminated, where necessary, to ensure consistency with
the policies adopted by the consolidated entity.

No provision for income tax has been raised as the entity is exempt from income tax under Div 50 of the Income Tax
Assessment Act 1997.

When the consolidated entity receives operating grant revenue, donations or bequests, it assesses whether the contract is
enforceable and has sufficiently specific performance obligations in accordance with AASB 15.

These consolidated financials are special purpose consolidated financial statements prepared in order to satisfy the financial
reporting requirements of the Associations Incorporation Reform Act 2012 and the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits
Commission Act 2012.  The committee has determined that the entity is not a reporting entity.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis and are based on historical costs. They do not
take into account changing money values or, except where stated specifically, current valuations of non-current assets.

The following significant accounting policies, which are consistent with the previous period unless stated otherwise, have been
adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all controlled entities of Western District
Employment Access Inc. ("parent entity") and the results of all controlled entities for the year then ended. Western District
Employment Access Inc. and its controlled entities are referred to in these financial statements as the "consolidated entity".

The amounts presented in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars. Minor discrepancies in
tables between totals and sum of components are due to rounding.

- recognises the asset received in accordance with the recognition requirements of other applicable accounting standards;

- recognises income immediately in profit or loss as the difference between the initial carrying amount of the asset and the
related amount.
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Western District Employment Access Inc.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

Note 1: Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

f. Property, plant and equipment (Cont)

Depreciation

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable asset are:

Class of asset Depreciation rate
Buildings 2%
Leasehold improvements 10% - 20%
Plant and equipment 5% - 100%
Motor vehicles 10% - 13%

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

g. Leases

h. Impairment

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability as mentioned above, any lease payments made at
or before the commencement date as well as any initial direct costs. The subsequent measurement of the right-of-use assets is at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the lease term of useful life of the underlying asset, whichever is the shortest. Where lease transfers
ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the consolidated entity anticipates to exercise a purchase
option, the specific asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset.

At each reporting date, the consolidated entity reviews the carrying values of its tangible assets to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have been impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset's fair
value less costs to sell and value-in-use, is compared to the asset's carrying value. Any excess of the asset's carrying value over its recoverable
amount is expensed to the income statement.

- variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or the rate at the commencement date;

The depreciable amount of all fixed assets, excluding freehold land, is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the assets useful life
commencing from the time the asset is available for use. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of either the unexpired
period of the lease or the estimated useful lives of the improvements.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are as follows:
- fixed lease payments less any lease incentive;

At inception of a contract, the consolidated entity assesses if the contract contains or is a lease. If there is a lease present, a right-of-use asset
and corresponding lease liability are recognised by the consolidated entity where the consolidated entity is a lessee. However, all contracts
that are classified as short-term leases (lease with remaining lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets are recognised as
an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Initially the lease liability is measured at the present value of the lease payments still to be paid at commencement date. The lease payments
are discounted at the interest rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the consolidated entity uses the incremental
borrowing rate.

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the consolidated entity estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

- the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under the residual value guarantees;
- the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options;
- lease payments under extension options if lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and
- payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease.
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Western District Employment Access Inc.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

Note 1: Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

c. Revenue (Cont)

Capital Grants

d. Fair Value of Assets

e. Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

f. Property, plant and equipment

Property

Plant and equipment

For non-financial assets, the fair value measurement also takes into account a market participant's ability to use the asset in its
highest and best use or to sell it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

As fair value is a market-based measure, the closest equivalent observable market pricing information is used to determine fair
value. Adjustments to market values may be made having regard to the characteristics of the specific asset. The fair values of
assets that are traded in an active market are determined using one or more valuation techniques. These valuation techniques
maximise, to the extent possible, the use of observable market data.

When the consolidated entity receives a capital grant, it recognises a liability for the excess of the initial carrying amount of the
financial asset received over any related amounts (being contributions by owners, lease liability, financial instruments,
provisions, revenue or contract liability arising from a contract with a customer) recognised under other Australian Accounting
Standards.

The consolidated entity recognises income in profit or loss when or as the consolidated entity satisfies its obligations under the
terms of the grant.

The consolidated entity measures some of its assets at fair value. Fair value is the price the consolidated entity would receive to
sell an asset in an orderly (i.e. unforced) transaction between independent, knowledgeable and willing market participants at
the measurement date.

Freehold land and buildings are carried at their fair value (being the amount for which an asset could be exchanged between
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm's length transaction), based on periodic, but at least triennial, valuations by external
independent valuers, less accumulated depreciation for buildings.

Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis and therefore carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses. In the event the carrying amount of plant and equipment is greater than the estimated
recoverable amount, the carrying value is written down immediately to the estimated recoverable amount and impairment
losses are recognised either in profit or loss as a revaluation decrease if the impairment losses relate to a revalued asset. A
formal assessment of recoverable amount is made when impairment indicators are present (refer to Note 1(h) for details of
impairment).

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of land and buildings are credited to a revaluation surplus in equity.
Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset are recognised against the asset revaluation reserve directly in
equity; all other decreases are recognised in profit or loss.

Any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net
amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset.
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Western District Employment Access Inc.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

Note 1: Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

f. Property, plant and equipment (Cont)

Depreciation

The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable asset are:

Class of asset Depreciation rate
Buildings 2%
Leasehold improvements 10% - 20%
Plant and equipment 5% - 100%
Motor vehicles 10% - 13%

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

g. Leases

h. Impairment

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability as mentioned above, any lease payments made at
or before the commencement date as well as any initial direct costs. The subsequent measurement of the right-of-use assets is at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the lease term of useful life of the underlying asset, whichever is the shortest. Where lease transfers
ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the consolidated entity anticipates to exercise a purchase
option, the specific asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset.

At each reporting date, the consolidated entity reviews the carrying values of its tangible assets to determine whether there is any indication
that those assets have been impaired. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset, being the higher of the asset's fair
value less costs to sell and value-in-use, is compared to the asset's carrying value. Any excess of the asset's carrying value over its recoverable
amount is expensed to the income statement.

- variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or the rate at the commencement date;

The depreciable amount of all fixed assets, excluding freehold land, is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the assets useful life
commencing from the time the asset is available for use. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of either the unexpired
period of the lease or the estimated useful lives of the improvements.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are as follows:
- fixed lease payments less any lease incentive;

At inception of a contract, the consolidated entity assesses if the contract contains or is a lease. If there is a lease present, a right-of-use asset
and corresponding lease liability are recognised by the consolidated entity where the consolidated entity is a lessee. However, all contracts
that are classified as short-term leases (lease with remaining lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets are recognised as
an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Initially the lease liability is measured at the present value of the lease payments still to be paid at commencement date. The lease payments
are discounted at the interest rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the consolidated entity uses the incremental
borrowing rate.

Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the consolidated entity estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

- the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under the residual value guarantees;
- the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options;
- lease payments under extension options if lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and
- payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease.
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Western District Employment Access Inc.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

Note 1: Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

n. Goods and Services Tax (GST)

o. Key estimates

(i) Impairment

p. Key judgements

(i) Employee provisions

Provision for impairment of receivables

Management has completed an assessment of receivables outstanding.

Lease term and Option to Extend under AASB 16

Performance obligations under  AASB 15

q. Financial instruments

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised when the consolidated entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions to the instrument.
For the financial assets, this is the date that the consolidated entity commits itself to either the purchase or sale of the asset (i.e.. trade date
accounting is adopted).

The consolidated entity assesses impairment at the end of each reporting period by evaluation of conditions and events specific to the
consolidated entity that may be indicative of impairment triggers. Recoverable amounts of relevant assets are reassessed using value-in-
use calculations which incorporates various key assumptions. 

The lease term is defined as the non-cancellable period of a lease together with bond periods covered by an option to extend the lease if
the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and also periods covered by an option to terminate the lease if the lessee is
reasonably certain not to exercise that option. The options that are reasonably going to be exercised is a key management judgement
that the consolidated entity will make. The consolidated entity determines the likeliness to exercise the options on a lease-by-lease basis
looking at various factors such as which assets are strategic and which are key to future strategy of the consolidated entity. 

To identify a performance obligation under AASB 15, the promise must be sufficiently specific to be able to determine when the
obligation is satisfied. Management exercises judgement to determine whether the promise is sufficiently specific by taking into account
any conditions specified in the arrangement, explicit or implicit, regarding the promised goods or services. In making this assessment,
management includes the nature/type, cost/value, quantity and the period of transfer to the goods or services promised.

For the purposes of measurement, AASB 119: Employee Benefits defines obligations for short-term employee benefits as obligations
expected to be settled wholly before 12 months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the related
service. As the consolidated entity expects that all of its employees would use all of their annual leave entitlements earned during a
reporting period before 12 months after the end of the reporting period, the consolidated entity believes that obligations for annual
leave entitlements satisfy the definition of short-term employee benefits and, therefore, can be measured at the (undiscounted)
amounts expected to be paid to employees when the obligations are settled. 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the
Australian Taxation Office (ATO).

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities which are
recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are presented as operating cash flows included in receipts from customers or payments to suppliers.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from, or
payable to, the ATO and is included with other receivables or payables in the balance sheet.
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Note 1: Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

i. Employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits

Other long-term employee benefits

j. Cash on hand

k. Accounts receivable and other debtors

l. Accounts payable and other payables

m. Comparative Figures

When required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform to changes in presentation for the current
financial year.

Accounts payable and other payables represent the liability outstanding at the end of the reporting period for goods and services received by
the consolidated entity during the reporting period that remain unpaid. The balance is recognised as a current liability with the amounts
normally paid within 30 days of recognition of the liability.

Provision is made for the consolidated entity's obligation for short-term employee benefits. Short-term employee benefits are benefits (other
than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled wholly before 12 months and after the end of the annual reporting period in which
the employees render the related service, including wages and salaries and time owing in lieu. Short term employee benefits are measured at
the (undiscounted) amounts expected to be paid when the obligation is settled.

The consolidated entity's obligations for long-term employee benefits are presented as non-current provisions in its statement of financial
position, except where the consolidated entity does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of
the reporting period, in which case the obligations are presented as current provisions.

Accounts receivable are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less any provision for impairment. Refer to Note 1(q) for further discussion on the determination of impairment losses.

Cash on hand includes cash, deposits held at call with banks, other short term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three
months or less.

Accounts receivable and other debtors include amounts due from customers for goods sold in the ordinary course of business. Receivables
expected to be collected within 12 months of the end of the reporting period are classified as current assets. All other receivables are classified 
as non-current assets.

Provision is made for employees' long service leave and annual leave entitlements not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after
the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the related service. Other long-term employee benefits are measured at
the present value of the expected future payments to be made to employees. Expected future payments incorporate anticipated future wage
and salary levels, durations of service and employee departures and are discounted at rates determined by reference to market yields at the
end of the reporting period on corporate bonds that have maturity dates that approximate the terms of the obligations. Upon the re-
measurement of obligations for other long-term employee benefits , the net change in the obligation is recognised in profit and loss as a part
of employee benefits expense.

The consolidated entity's obligations for short-term employee benefits such as wages and salaries are recognised as a part of current
employee provisions in the balance sheet.
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Western District Employment Access Inc.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

Note 1: Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

n. Goods and Services Tax (GST)

o. Key estimates

(i) Impairment

p. Key judgements

(i) Employee provisions

Provision for impairment of receivables

Management has completed an assessment of receivables outstanding.

Lease term and Option to Extend under AASB 16

Performance obligations under  AASB 15

q. Financial instruments

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised when the consolidated entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions to the instrument.
For the financial assets, this is the date that the consolidated entity commits itself to either the purchase or sale of the asset (i.e.. trade date
accounting is adopted).

The consolidated entity assesses impairment at the end of each reporting period by evaluation of conditions and events specific to the
consolidated entity that may be indicative of impairment triggers. Recoverable amounts of relevant assets are reassessed using value-in-
use calculations which incorporates various key assumptions. 

The lease term is defined as the non-cancellable period of a lease together with bond periods covered by an option to extend the lease if
the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and also periods covered by an option to terminate the lease if the lessee is
reasonably certain not to exercise that option. The options that are reasonably going to be exercised is a key management judgement
that the consolidated entity will make. The consolidated entity determines the likeliness to exercise the options on a lease-by-lease basis
looking at various factors such as which assets are strategic and which are key to future strategy of the consolidated entity. 

To identify a performance obligation under AASB 15, the promise must be sufficiently specific to be able to determine when the
obligation is satisfied. Management exercises judgement to determine whether the promise is sufficiently specific by taking into account
any conditions specified in the arrangement, explicit or implicit, regarding the promised goods or services. In making this assessment,
management includes the nature/type, cost/value, quantity and the period of transfer to the goods or services promised.

For the purposes of measurement, AASB 119: Employee Benefits defines obligations for short-term employee benefits as obligations
expected to be settled wholly before 12 months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the related
service. As the consolidated entity expects that all of its employees would use all of their annual leave entitlements earned during a
reporting period before 12 months after the end of the reporting period, the consolidated entity believes that obligations for annual
leave entitlements satisfy the definition of short-term employee benefits and, therefore, can be measured at the (undiscounted)
amounts expected to be paid to employees when the obligations are settled. 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the
Australian Taxation Office (ATO).

Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST components of cash flows arising from investing or financing activities which are
recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are presented as operating cash flows included in receipts from customers or payments to suppliers.

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from, or
payable to, the ATO and is included with other receivables or payables in the balance sheet.
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Western District Employment Access Inc.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

Note 1: Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

q. Financial instruments (cont.)

Impairment
The consolidated entity recognises a loss allowance for expected credit loses on:

- financial assets that are measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income;
- lease receivables;
- contract assets (e.g. amount due from customer under construction contracts)
- loan commitments that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss; and 
- financial guarantee contracts that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

The consolidated entity uses the general approach to impairment, as applicable under AASB 9: Financial Instruments.

r. New Accounting Standards for Application in Future Periods

Standard / Summary Applicable for reporting Impact on consolidated entity's Annual
Interpretation periods beginning on Statements

1 January 2023. The standard is not expected to have a 
significant impact on the consolidated entity. 

AASB 2020-1 
Amendments to 
Australian 
Accounting 
Standards – 
Classification of 
Liabilities as Current 
or Non-Current 

This Standard amends AASB 101 to clarify 
requirements for the presentation of liabilities 
in the statement of financial position as 
current or non-current. A liability is classified 
as non-current if an entity has the right at the 
end of the reporting period to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 
months after the reporting period. The 
meaning of settlement of a liability is also 
clarified.
AASB 2020-6 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Classification of 
Liabilities as Current or Non-current – Deferral 
of Effective Date was issued in August 2020 
and defers the effective date to annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2023 instead of 1 January 2022, with 
earlier application permitted. 

Expected credit losses are the probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life of a financial instrument. A credit loss is the
difference between all contractual cash flows that are due and all cash flows expected to be received, all discounted at the original effective
interest rate of the financial instrument. 

- if the credit risk of the financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, the consolidated entity measures the loss
allowance of the financial instruments at an equal amount to the lifetime expected credit losses; and

Accounting Standards issued by the AASB that are not yet mandatorily applicable to the consolidated entity, together with an assessment of
the potential impact of such pronouncements on the consolidated entity when adopted in future periods, are discussed below:

- if there is no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the consolidated entity measures the loss allowance for that
financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses. 

Under the general approach, a each reporting period, the consolidated entity assesses whether the financial instruments are credit-impaired,
and:
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Note 1: Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

q. Financial instruments (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost. A financial liability cannot be reclassified.

Financial assets
Financial assets are subsequently measured at:

- amortised cost;
-fair value through other comprehensive income; or
-fair value through profit or loss.

A financial asset that meets the following conditions is subsequently measured at amortised cost:
- the financial asset is managed solely to collect contractual cash flows; and
- the contractual terms within the financial asset give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal

The consolidated entity initially designates a financial instrument as measured at fait value through profit or loss if:

Derecognition

Derecognition of financial liabilities

Derecognition of financial assets

All the following criteria need to be satisfied for the derecognition of a financial asset:
- the rights to receive cash flows from the asset has expired or been transferred;
- all risk and rewards of ownership of the asset have been substantially transferred; and 

-it eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency (often referred to as an "accounting mismatch") that
would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases; and

Financial instruments (except for trade receivables) are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except where the instrument is
classified "at fair value through profit or loss", in which case transactions costs are expensed to profit or loss immediately. Where available,
quoted prices in an active market are used to determine fair value. In other circumstances, valuation techniques are adopted. 

By default, all other financial assets that do not meet the measurement conditions of amortised cost and fair value through other
comprehensive income are subsequently measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

-it is in accordance with the documented risk management or investment strategy and information about the groupings is documented
appropriately, so the performance of the financial liability that is a part of a group of financial liabilities or financial assets can be
managed and evaluated consistently on a fair value basis.

The initial designation of financial instruments to measure at fair value through profit or loss is a one-time option on initial classification and is
irrevocable until the financial asset is derecognised. 

Derecognition refers to the removal or a previously recognised financial asset or financial liability from the balance sheet. 

The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable, including any non-
cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss. 

A financial asset is derecognised when the holder's contractual rights to its cash flows expires, or the asset is transferred in such a way that all
the risks and rewards of ownership are substantially transferred. 

- the consolidated entity no longer controls the asset (i.e. has not practical ability to make unilateral decision to sell the asset to a third 
party). 

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss. 

On derecognition of a debt instrument classified as fair value through other comprehensive income, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.

A liability is derecognised when it is extinguished (i.e. when the obligation in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires). An exchange of
an existing financial liability for a new one with substantially modified terms, or a substantial modification to the terms of a financial liability is
treated as an extinguishment of the existing liability and recognition of a new financial liability. 
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Western District Employment Access Inc.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

Note 1: Statement of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

q. Financial instruments (cont.)

Impairment
The consolidated entity recognises a loss allowance for expected credit loses on:

- financial assets that are measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income;
- lease receivables;
- contract assets (e.g. amount due from customer under construction contracts)
- loan commitments that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss; and 
- financial guarantee contracts that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

The consolidated entity uses the general approach to impairment, as applicable under AASB 9: Financial Instruments.

r. New Accounting Standards for Application in Future Periods

Standard / Summary Applicable for reporting Impact on consolidated entity's Annual
Interpretation periods beginning on Statements

1 January 2023. The standard is not expected to have a 
significant impact on the consolidated entity. 

AASB 2020-1 
Amendments to 
Australian 
Accounting 
Standards – 
Classification of 
Liabilities as Current 
or Non-Current 

This Standard amends AASB 101 to clarify 
requirements for the presentation of liabilities 
in the statement of financial position as 
current or non-current. A liability is classified 
as non-current if an entity has the right at the 
end of the reporting period to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 
months after the reporting period. The 
meaning of settlement of a liability is also 
clarified.
AASB 2020-6 Amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Classification of 
Liabilities as Current or Non-current – Deferral 
of Effective Date was issued in August 2020 
and defers the effective date to annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2023 instead of 1 January 2022, with 
earlier application permitted. 

Expected credit losses are the probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life of a financial instrument. A credit loss is the
difference between all contractual cash flows that are due and all cash flows expected to be received, all discounted at the original effective
interest rate of the financial instrument. 

- if the credit risk of the financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, the consolidated entity measures the loss
allowance of the financial instruments at an equal amount to the lifetime expected credit losses; and

Accounting Standards issued by the AASB that are not yet mandatorily applicable to the consolidated entity, together with an assessment of
the potential impact of such pronouncements on the consolidated entity when adopted in future periods, are discussed below:

- if there is no significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the consolidated entity measures the loss allowance for that
financial instrument at an amount equal to 12-month expected credit losses. 

Under the general approach, a each reporting period, the consolidated entity assesses whether the financial instruments are credit-impaired,
and:
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Western District Employment Access Inc.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

2021 2020
$'000 $'000

Note 6: Program expenses

Plan management costs 16,938 7,882 
Disability program expenses 4,459 3,952 
Jobactive program expenses 3,089 2,757 
Other program expenses 103 105 

Total program expenses 24,589 14,696

Note 7: Administrative expenses

Utilities and rates 372 363 
Cleaning 308 215 
Minor equipment 248 813 
Printing and stationery 203 197 
Repairs and maintenance 195 302 
Insurance 159 137 
Rent and room hire 94 86 
Sundry expenses 63 19 
Postage 57 78 
Cost of sales 52 97 
Interest 32 58 

Total administrative expenses 1,783 2,365

Note 8: Accounts receivable and other debtors

Accounts receivable 345 294
Less provision for impairment (19) (18) 
Accrued income 1,657 2,172 
Accrued interest 83 71 

Total accounts receivable & other debtors 2,067 2,520

Note 9: Other current assets

Prepayments 241 356 
Security deposits 53 47 

Total other current assets 294 403 

Note 10: Assets-held-for-sale

Land and buildings 640 640 
less Government equity share in assets-held-for-sale (463) (463) 

Total assets-held-for-sale 177 177 

Consolidated Entity
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2021 2020
$'000 $'000

Note 2: Program funding
NDIA Plan management 20,166 10,588 
Department of Social Services 16,095 17,038 
Department of Education, Skills and Employment 12,960 11,892 
NDIA SLES Funding 2,365 366 
Department of Health and Human Services 23 26 

Total program funding 51,610 39,910 

Note 3: Other revenue
Job keeper 3,932 3,273 
Sales and service income 1,385 1,184 
Sundry income 238 129 
Enrolment fees 174 160 
Interest income 128 207 
Room hire income 16 18 
Training incentives received 7 103 

Total other revenue 5,880 5,074 

Note 4: Net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant & equipment

Proceeds from disposal of non current assets and other minor assets 448 119 
Written down value of non current assets sold (327) (101) 

Total net gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant & equipment 121 18 

Note 5: Employee benefits expense

Salaries and wages 19,420 16,802 
Superannuation 1,788 1,519 
Job keeper top up 1,086 940 
Workcover 487 349 
Staff recruitment, activities and amenities 434 438 
Staff training and accommodation 324 355 

Total employee benefits expenses 23,539 20,403

Consolidated Entity
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Western District Employment Access Inc.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

2021 2020
$'000 $'000

Note 6: Program expenses

Plan management costs 16,938 7,882 
Disability program expenses 4,459 3,952 
Jobactive program expenses 3,089 2,757 
Other program expenses 103 105 

Total program expenses 24,589 14,696

Note 7: Administrative expenses

Utilities and rates 372 363 
Cleaning 308 215 
Minor equipment 248 813 
Printing and stationery 203 197 
Repairs and maintenance 195 302 
Insurance 159 137 
Rent and room hire 94 86 
Sundry expenses 63 19 
Postage 57 78 
Cost of sales 52 97 
Interest 32 58 

Total administrative expenses 1,783 2,365

Note 8: Accounts receivable and other debtors

Accounts receivable 345 294
Less provision for impairment (19) (18) 
Accrued income 1,657 2,172 
Accrued interest 83 71 

Total accounts receivable & other debtors 2,067 2,520

Note 9: Other current assets

Prepayments 241 356 
Security deposits 53 47 

Total other current assets 294 403 

Note 10: Assets-held-for-sale

Land and buildings 640 640 
less Government equity share in assets-held-for-sale (463) (463) 

Total assets-held-for-sale 177 177 

Consolidated Entity
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Western District Employment Access Inc.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

Note 11: Property plant & equipment (cont.)

(a) Reconciliation of the carrying amounts of each class of asset:

Consolidated entity Land Buildings Leasehold Plant and Motor Right of use Works in
Improvements Equipment Vehicles assets Progress Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Balance at 1 July 2019 2,145 3,354 - 780 1,199 - - 7,479 

Recognition on initial application of AASB16 - - - - - 3,054 - 3,054 
Additions - 276 - 754 726 - - 1,756 
Transfers - (278) 278 (19) - 19 - 
Disposals - - - (20) (81) - - (101) 
Depreciation - (272) - (256) (266) (941) - (1,735) 

Carrying amount at 30 June 2020 2,145 3,080 278 1,238 1,578 2,113 19 10,452 

Balance at 1 July 2020 2,145 3,080 278 1,238 1,578 2,113 19 10,452 

Additions 91 221 950 344 885 734 355 3,580 
Transfers - 39 40 64 - - (143) - 
Disposals (80) (48) (3) (54) (142) - (1) (328) 
Depreciation - (67) (252) (367) (305) (1,064) - (2,055) 

Carrying amount at 30 June 2021 2,157 3,224 1,014 1,226 2,016 1,782 230 11,649 
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2021 2020
$'000 $'000

Note 11: Property plant & equipment

Land
Land at fair value 2,157 2,145

Buildings
Buildings at fair value 3,353 3,143
Accumulated depreciation (129) (63) 

Total buildings 3,224 3,080

Leasehold improvements
Leasehold improvements at cost 1,401 992
Accumulated depreciation (387) (714) 

Total leasehold improvements 1,014 278

Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment at cost 964 1,017
Accumulated depreciation (421) (454) 

Computer equipment at cost 974 850
Accumulated depreciation (291) (174) 

Total plant and equipment 1,226 1,238

Motor vehicles
Motor vehicles at cost 2,840 2,443
Accumulated depreciation (824) (865) 

Total motor vehicles 2,016 1,578

Right of use assets
Right of use properties 2,967 3,054
Accumulated amortisation (1,185) (941) 

Total motor vehicles 1,782 2,113

Works in Progress 230 19

Total property, plant and equipment 11,649 10,452

Consolidated Entity

Valuation of land and buildings were undertaken by a qualified independent valuer, Certified Practicing Valuer Mr Roger Cussen, 
Certified Practising Valuer No 61961 as at 30 June 2019. Land and buildings are valued at fair value, being the amounts for which the 
assets could be exchanged between willing parties in an arm's length transaction, based on current prices in an active market.
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Western District Employment Access Inc.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

Note 11: Property plant & equipment (cont.)

(a) Reconciliation of the carrying amounts of each class of asset:

Consolidated entity Land Buildings Leasehold Plant and Motor Right of use Works in
Improvements Equipment Vehicles assets Progress Total

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Balance at 1 July 2019 2,145 3,354 - 780 1,199 - - 7,479 

Recognition on initial application of AASB16 - - - - - 3,054 - 3,054 
Additions - 276 - 754 726 - - 1,756 
Transfers - (278) 278 (19) - 19 - 
Disposals - - - (20) (81) - - (101) 
Depreciation - (272) - (256) (266) (941) - (1,735) 

Carrying amount at 30 June 2020 2,145 3,080 278 1,238 1,578 2,113 19 10,452 

Balance at 1 July 2020 2,145 3,080 278 1,238 1,578 2,113 19 10,452 

Additions 91 221 950 344 885 734 355 3,580 
Transfers - 39 40 64 - - (143) - 
Disposals (80) (48) (3) (54) (142) - (1) (328) 
Depreciation - (67) (252) (367) (305) (1,064) - (2,055) 

Carrying amount at 30 June 2021 2,157 3,224 1,014 1,226 2,016 1,782 230 11,649 
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Western District Employment Access Inc.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

2021 2020
$'000 $'000

Note 17: Cash Flow Information

Reconciliation of cash flows from operations with net current year surplus

Net current year surplus 1,704 3,159 

Depreciation and amortisation 2,055 1,735 
Net (gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant & equipment (121) (18) 
Bad and doubtful debts 36 (15) 
Present value impact on right of use assets 31 57 

(Increase)/decrease in accounts receivable and other debtors 415 (1,152) 
(increase)/decrease in inventories (23) 11 
(Increase)/decrease in other current assets 109 (182) 
Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable and other payables 72 589 
Increase/(decrease) in employee provisions 55 507 
Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities 1,105 64 

Net cash provided by operating activities 5,438 4,755 

Note 18: Events after the reporting period

The members of the committee are not aware of any significant events since the end of the reporting period.

Note 19: Association details

The registered office and principal place of business of the incorporated association is:

Western District Employment Access Inc.
52 Fairy Street
Warrnambool, Victoria 3280

Note 20: Investments in controlled entities

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following controlled
entities in accordance with accounting policy described in note 1(a).

Name of entity Holding 2021 Holding 2020

Balance Training Services Pty. Ltd. 100% 100%

The organisation acquired 100% of the shares in Balance Training Services Pty. Ltd. at 18 December 2013. Balance Training Services Pty. Ltd. Is 
a registered training organisation specialising in the delivery of nationally accredited training and industry tailored training.

Consolidated Entity
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

2021 2020
$'000 $'000

Note 12: Trade and other payables

Trade payables 699 998
Accrued expenses 989 661
Statutory payables - GST and PAYG 464 424
Other payables 9 7

Total trade and other payables 2,160 2,090

Note 13: Employee benefits

Current
Unconditional annual leave 1,461 1,259
Unconditional long service leave 649 708
Unconditional time owing in lieu 17 23

Total current employee benefits 2,127 1,991

Non-current
Conditional long service leave 312 394

Total non-current employee benefits 312 394

Total employee benefits 2,439 2,384

Note 14: Other liabilities

Grants received in advance 1,812 608
Other liabilities 11 108

1,823 716

Note 15: Commitments

Operating lease commitments

Payable - minimum lease payments:
- not later than 12 months 17 23 
- between 12 months and five years 69 52 

87 75 
Capital commitments

Payable
- not later than 12 months 145 206 

Note 16: Contingencies

The entity is unaware of any contingent assets or liabilities as at 30 June 2021. (2020 Nil).

Consolidated Entity

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments contracted for, including intended extension options, but not recognised in the financial 
statement. 
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Western District Employment Access Inc.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

2021 2020
$'000 $'000

Note 17: Cash Flow Information

Reconciliation of cash flows from operations with net current year surplus

Net current year surplus 1,704 3,159 

Depreciation and amortisation 2,055 1,735 
Net (gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant & equipment (121) (18) 
Bad and doubtful debts 36 (15) 
Present value impact on right of use assets 31 57 

(Increase)/decrease in accounts receivable and other debtors 415 (1,152) 
(increase)/decrease in inventories (23) 11 
(Increase)/decrease in other current assets 109 (182) 
Increase/(decrease) in accounts payable and other payables 72 589 
Increase/(decrease) in employee provisions 55 507 
Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities 1,105 64 

Net cash provided by operating activities 5,438 4,755 

Note 18: Events after the reporting period

The members of the committee are not aware of any significant events since the end of the reporting period.

Note 19: Association details

The registered office and principal place of business of the incorporated association is:

Western District Employment Access Inc.
52 Fairy Street
Warrnambool, Victoria 3280

Note 20: Investments in controlled entities

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following controlled
entities in accordance with accounting policy described in note 1(a).

Name of entity Holding 2021 Holding 2020

Balance Training Services Pty. Ltd. 100% 100%

The organisation acquired 100% of the shares in Balance Training Services Pty. Ltd. at 18 December 2013. Balance Training Services Pty. Ltd. Is 
a registered training organisation specialising in the delivery of nationally accredited training and industry tailored training.

Consolidated Entity
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FINANCIAL REPORT
Western District Employment Access Inc.
STATEMENT BY MEMBERS OF THE COMMITTEE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2021

In accordance with a resolution of the Committee of Western District Employment Access Inc and controlled entity, in the
opinion of the committee:

1. The financial statements and notes as set out on pages 3 to 19, satisfied the requirements of the Australian
Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 and:

a. comply with Australian Accounting Standards applicable to the consolidated entity; and

b. give a true and fair view of the financial position of Western District Employment Access Inc and controlled
entity as at 30 June 2021 and of their performance for the year ended on that date.

2. There are reasonable grounds to believe that the consolidated entity will be able to pay its debts as 
and when they become due and payable.

Dated at Warrnambool this 29th day of September 2021.

Mr Dennis Barnett
Chairperson

Mr Michael Obst 
Secretary
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Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation

INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OFWESTERN DISTRICT EMPLOYMENT ACCESS INC.

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial report of Western District Employment Access Inc. (the entity) and 
its controlled entity (together the consolidated entity), which comprises the statement of financial position as at 
30 June 2021, the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash 
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies and statement by members of the committee.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of the consolidated entity as at 30 June 2021, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with the financial reporting requirements of the Associations Incorporation Reform Act (Vic) 
2012 and Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 (ACNC Act).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of 
our report. We are independent of the consolidated entity in accordance with the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board's APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the 
Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

Emphasis of Matter – Basis of Accounting

We draw attention to Note 1 to the financial report, which describes the basis of accounting. The financial report 
has been prepared to assist Western District Employment Access Inc. to meet the requirements of the 
Associations Incorporation Reform Act (Vic) 2012 and the ACNC Act. As a result, the financial report may not be 
suitable for another purpose. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Report

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance with 
the financial reporting requirements of the ACNC Act and the Associations Incorporation Reform Act (Vic) 2012 
and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation and fair 
presentation of a financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, management is responsible for assessing the consolidated entity's ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the consolidated entity or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the consolidated entity's financial reporting 
process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
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30 June 2021, the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash 
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies and statement by members of the committee.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of the consolidated entity as at 30 June 2021, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with the financial reporting requirements of the Associations Incorporation Reform Act (Vic) 
2012 and Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 (ACNC Act).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of 
our report. We are independent of the consolidated entity in accordance with the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board's APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the 
Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

Emphasis of Matter – Basis of Accounting

We draw attention to Note 1 to the financial report, which describes the basis of accounting. The financial report 
has been prepared to assist Western District Employment Access Inc. to meet the requirements of the 
Associations Incorporation Reform Act (Vic) 2012 and the ACNC Act. As a result, the financial report may not be 
suitable for another purpose. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Report

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance with 
the financial reporting requirements of the ACNC Act and the Associations Incorporation Reform Act (Vic) 2012 
and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation and fair 
presentation of a financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, management is responsible for assessing the consolidated entity's ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the consolidated entity or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the consolidated entity's financial reporting 
process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
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can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.

As part of an audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgment and 
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the consolidated entity's internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the consolidated entity's ability to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our 
auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, 
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor's report. However, future events or conditions may cause the consolidated entity to cease to 
continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.

Independence

In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of Australian professional ethical 
pronouncements.

MCLAREN HUNT 
AUDIT AND ASSURANCE

N.L. McLEAN
PARTNER

Dated at Warrnambool, 1 October 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OFWESTERN DISTRICT EMPLOYMENT ACCESS INC.

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial report of Western District Employment Access Inc. (the entity) and 
its controlled entity (together the consolidated entity), which comprises the statement of financial position as at 
30 June 2021, the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash 
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies and statement by members of the committee.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 
of the consolidated entity as at 30 June 2021, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with the financial reporting requirements of the Associations Incorporation Reform Act (Vic) 
2012 and Division 60 of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012 (ACNC Act).

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section of 
our report. We are independent of the consolidated entity in accordance with the ethical requirements of the 
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board's APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the 
Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

Emphasis of Matter – Basis of Accounting

We draw attention to Note 1 to the financial report, which describes the basis of accounting. The financial report 
has been prepared to assist Western District Employment Access Inc. to meet the requirements of the 
Associations Incorporation Reform Act (Vic) 2012 and the ACNC Act. As a result, the financial report may not be 
suitable for another purpose. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Report

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial report in accordance with 
the financial reporting requirements of the ACNC Act and the Associations Incorporation Reform Act (Vic) 2012 
and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation and fair 
presentation of a financial report that is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial report, management is responsible for assessing the consolidated entity's ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the consolidated entity or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the consolidated entity's financial reporting 
process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
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Head Office:

WDEA Works 
52 Fairy Street 
Warrnambool  VIC  3280

E info@wdeaworks.org.au 
P (03) 5561 2579

wdeaworks.org.au 
1300 521 511


